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We offer franchises for the operation of upscale, full-service, sit-down restaurants featuring multiple taps and a
long, revolving list of craft beer brands, as well as proprietary and confidential food and beverage recipes and
related products and services. We also offer a multi-unit franchise under which you undertake to open and
operate a specified number of Sedona Taphouse restaurants over an agreed period of time within an agreed
geographic area.

The total investment necessary to begin operation of a Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchise is $1,652,000 to
$2,510,000. This includes $51,500 to $96,000 that you must pay to us or our affiliate.

If you sign a multi-unit agreement (covering at least three units), your total initial investment will be $1,692,000
to $2,550,000 plus $10,000 for each unit after the first three. This includes $91,500 to $136,000 (for three units)
plus $10,000 for each additional agreed unit after the third unit that you must pay to us or our affiliate.

This disclosure document summarizes certain provisions of your franchise agreement and other information in
plain English. Read this disclosure document and all accompanying agreements carefully. You must receive this
disclosure document at least 14 calendar days before you sign a binding agreement with, or make any payment
to, the franchisor or an affiliate in connection with the proposed franchise sale. NOTE, HOWEVER, THAT NO
GOVERNMENTAL AGENCY HAS VERIFIED THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS DOCUMENT.

You may wish to receive your disclosure document in another format that is more convenient for you. To discuss
the availability of disclosures in different formats, contact Dennis Barbaro at DJB Franchising, LLC, 812 Moore-
field Drive, Suite 301, Richmond, VA 23236, telephone 804-545-2498.

The terms of your contract wild.l govern your franchise r
to understand your contract. Read all of your contract carefully. Show your contract and this disclosure document
to an advisor, like a lawyer or an accountant.

Buying a franchise is a complex investment. The information in this disclosure document can help you make up

your mind. More information on franchising, such as #fAA
help you understand how to use this disclosure document, is available from the Federal Trade Commission. You

can contact the FTC at 1-877-FTC-HELP or by writing to the FTC at 600 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW, Washing-

ton, D. C. 20580. You can al so vi sfortaddition& inférmafignsCalhyoume p a g ¢
state agency or visit your public library for other sources of information on franchising.

There may also be laws on franchising in your state. Ask your state agencies about them.

Issuance date: April 9, 2025



How to Use This Franchise Disclosure Document

Here are some questions you may be asking about buying a franchise and tips

on how to find more information:

QUESTION

WHERE TO FIND INFORMATION

How much can | earn

Item 19 may give you information about outlet
sales, costs, profits or losses. You should also
try to obtain this information from others, like
current and former franchisees. You can find
their names and contact information in Item 20
or Exhibit A.

How much will | need to in-
vest?

Items 5 and 6 list fees you will be paying to the
franchisor or at the f
7 lists the initial investment to open. Iltem 8 de-
scribes the suppliers you must use.

Does the franchisor have
the financial ability to pro-
vide support to my busi-
ness?

Item 21 or Exhibit D includes financial state-
ments. Review these statements carefully.

Is the franchise system sta-
ble, growing, or shrinking?

Item 20 summarizes the recent history of the
number of company-owned and franchised out-
lets.

Will my business be the
only Sedona Taphouse res-
taurant in my area?

ltem 12 and the #fAterri
franchise agreement describe whether the fran-
chisor and other franchisees can compete with
you.

Does the franchisor have a
troubled legal history?

Items 3 and 4 tell you whether the franchisor or
its management have been involved in material
litigation or bankruptcy proceedings.

What 6s it |
dona Taphouse franchi-
see?

k e

Iltem 20 or Exhibit B lists current and former
franchisees. You can contact them to ask
about their experiences.

What else should | know?

These questions are only a few things you
should look for. Review all 23 Items and all Ex-
hibits in this disclosure document to better un-
derstand this franchise opportunity. See the ta-
ble of contents.
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What You Need to Know About Franchising Generally

Continuing responsibility to pay fees. You may have to pay royalties and other
fees even if you are losing money.

Business model can change. The franchise agreement may allow the franchisor
to change its manuals and business model without your consent. These changes
may require you to make additional investments in your franchise business or may
harm your franchise business.

Supplier restrictions. You may have to buy or lease items from the franchisor or
a limited group of suppliers the franchisor designates. These items may be more
expensive than similar items you could buy on your own.

Operating restrictions. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from operating
a similar business during the term of the franchise. There are usually other re-
strictions. Some examples may include controlling your location, your access to
customers, what you sell, how you market, and your hours of operation.

Competition from franchisor. Even if the franchise agreement grants you a ter-
ritory, the franchisor may have the right to compete with you in your territory.

Renewal. Your franchise agreement may not permit you to renew. Even if it does,
you may have to sign a new agreement with different terms and conditions in order
to continue to operate your franchise business.

When your franchise ends. The franchise agreement may prohibit you from op-
erating a similar business after your franchise ends even if you still have obliga-
tions to your landlord or other creditors.

Some States Require Registration

Your state may have a franchise law, or other law, that requires franchisors
to register before offering or selling franchises in the state. Registration does not
mean that the state recommends the franchise or has verified the information in
this document. To find out if your state has a registration requirement, or to contact
your state, use the agency information in Exhibit A.

Your state also may have laws that require special disclosures or amend-
ments be made to your franchise agreement. If so, you should check the State
Specific Addenda. See the Table of Contents for the location of the State Specific
Addenda.
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Special Risks to Consider About This Franchise
Certain states require that the following risks be highlighted:

1. Out-of-State Dispute Resolution. The franchise agreement requires
you to resolve disputes with the franchisor by mediation, arbitration
and/or litigation only in Virginia. Out-of-state mediation, arbitration, or
litigation may force you to accept a less favorable settlement for dis-
putes. It may also cost more to mediate, arbitrate, or litigate with the
franchisor in Virginia than in your own state.

Certain states may require other risks
Specific Addendad pages for your state (if
other risks to be highlighted.
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Item 1
THE FRANCHISOR AND ANY PARENTS, PREDECESSORS AND AFFILIATES

The Franchisor

I n this disclosure document, Afwed or Auso means

the franchise purchaser or the person interested in buying a franchise. If the prospective franchise pur-

chaser is an entity, such as a corporationoralimited | i abi |l ity company, iyouo

or owners of the franchise purchaser entity.

We do business under the name Sedona Taphouse. We also own and operate the Napa Kitchen
and Wine brand, which opened its first company-owned location in 2022. We are a Delaware limited liability
company formed July 22, 2014. Our principal business address is 812 Moorefield Drive, Suite 301, Rich-
mond, VA 23236.

Our agents for service of process are listed in Exhibit A of this disclosure document.
Our Parents, Predecessors and Affiliates

Affiliates of ours operate businesses of the type being franchised. We refer to these as company-
owned locations.

Our parent company is DJB Hospitality Holding Co., Inc., is a Virginia corporation.

Our affiliate, DJB Hospitality, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company, owns all of the intellectual
property used in the Sedona Taphouse system. It licenses us and our other affiliated companies to use the
Sedona Taphouse trademarks.

Our affiliate, NKW Franchising, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, was formed July 14,
2022 and owns the trademarks and intellectual property for the Napa Kitchen and Wine, a wine-centric
casual dining restaurant also developed by our former Dennis Barbaro.

The principal business address of our parent company and of all of our affiliated companies is the
same as our principal business address: 812 Moorefield Drive, Suite 301, Richmond, VA 23236.

No affiliates other than NKW Franchising, LLC offer franchises in any line of business. No affiliates
provide products or services to our franchisees. Neither we nor any predecessor or affiliate offers or has
offered franchises in other lines of business.

The Franchise

We offer the right to own and operate a Sedona Taphouse restaurant at a location that you choose,
and we approve. Each Sedona Taphouse restaurant is an upscale, full-service, sit-down restaurant featur-
ing multiple taps and a long, revolving list of craft beer brands from around the world, as well as wine and
cocktails, and proprietary and confidential food and beverage recipes and related items and services.

Each Sedona Taphouse restaurant serves only craft beer brands. We define a craft beer as a beer
that includes water, yeast, malted barley and hops as its main ingredients. We do not carry commercialized,
mass-produced beers (made primarily with rice and corn). Each restaurant must maintain an inventory of
at least 500 different approved beer selections.

Each Sedona Taphouse restaurant provides a comfortable, contemporary and fun atmosphere and
features live music, wifi access, hundreds of world class craft beers, select premium wines, hand crafted
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martinis and food offerings, consisting of both small plates and full entrees, including hand cut seafood and
Certified Black Angus steaks, using the finest, fresh ingredients sourced locally whenever possible.

The terms of the franchise offering are contained in our franchise agreement, the form of which is
attached to this disclosure document as Exhibit F1. The franchise agreement gives you the right to operate
a single Sedona Taphouse restaurant.

We also offer multi-unit development rights granting you the right in a defined geographic area to
open and operate a designated number of Sedona Taphouse restaurants within a specified period of time.
If you participate in this program, you will sign a multi-unit agreement in the form attached to this disclosure
document as Exhibit F3. The agreement will describe your development area and your development sched-
ule and other obligations. You will have the right to open and operate at least three franchised restaurants
under the multi-unit agreement. The agreement may allow you to open and operate more franchised res-
taurants. For each Sedona Taphouse restaurant you open under the multi-unit agreement, you will sign a
separate franchise agreement in the then-current form promptly after we approve the site for the restaurant.

The Market and the Competition

Sedona Taphouse restaurants serve men and women primarily ages 28 to 59 in the craft beer
taphouse segment. They target two underserved market niches in this segment. One is women. A typical
taphouse tends to appeal to men but not to a broad segment of women. We seek to create an environment
that is equally appealing both to men and women. The second is the upper-scale customer with an annual
household income above $75,000. Sedona Taphouse restaurants are designed to be slightly sophisticated
but not stuffy. Our closest competitors differ from us in any number of ways. Some, for example, lack a
quality wine list and have limited food offerings. Some cater to the younger college crowd rather than the
more discerning, higher end market.

The market for restaurants, bars, pubs, taverns and the like is well-developed and highly competi-
tive. Competitors range from locally owned bars and restaurants offering a large selection of beer and wine
to regional and national chains. This market is not seasonal.

Laws and Regulations

You must comply with all federal, state and local laws and regulations applicable to the operation
of your franchised business. These include laws affecting businesses generally, such as

9 business licensing requirements, zoning, permitting and other requirements for the location, con-
struction of the premises of your business, including access by people with disabilities;

T tax | aws, empl oyment and workersd compensation
1 laws protecting the health, safety and welfare of your employees and customers, such as laws
governing food preparation, handling and service, and sanitary conditions; restrictions on smoking;
and regulations dealing with fire safety and design, maintenance and operation; and
1 laws that regulate advertising.
Because you will offer wine and other alcohol beverages for sale at your restaurant, you must
obtain any required wine license and liquor license. You must also comply with state and local laws and
regulations that govern the manner in which alcoholbeverages may be sold. I n addi

laws give rise to potential liability for injuries that are directly or indirectly related to the sale and consumption
of alcohol. State and local agencies inspect restaurants and other facilities serving food and alcohol bever-
ages to ensure that they comply with these laws and regulations.
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You should research and review with your own attorney these and other laws that may apply in
your geographic area before you sign any binding documents or make any investment in the franchise.
These laws vary from one location to another and can change over time. The procedures and the difficulty
and cost of obtaining the required licenses and of complying with the applicable laws vary greatly from area
to area.

Item 2

BUSINESS EXPERIENCE

Dennis Barbaro i President and CEO

Dennis Barbaro founded Sedona Taphouse in 2011 and has been President of Sedona Taphouse,
LLC since its formation December 2, 2010. He has been President and Chief Executive Officer of DJB
Franchising, LLC since its formation in July 2014. He has also been President and CEO of DJB Hospitality,
LLC since its formation in December 2012 and STH-VA2, LLC since its formation in November 2012. In
addition, he has been the President and CEO of NKW Franchising, LLC since its founding during 2022, for
the franchising of the Napa Kitchen and Wine restaurant concept. Finally, Mr. Barbaro has been and re-
mains President and CEO of the entities that own and operate the Sedona Taphouse and Napa Kitchen
and Wine Acompanyo restaurants. Vignia. Barbarobs office 1i:
Abdel Rafai i Vice President i Operations

Abdel Rafai has been Vice President i Operations of DJB Franchising, LLC, and DJB Hospitality,
LLC, since April 2016. He has been Vice President -of NKW Franchising, LLC since it was formed July 14,
2022. Mr. Rafai works in Richmond, Virginia.

ltem 3

LITIGATION
No litigation is required to be disclosed in this Item.
ltem 4
BANKRUPTCY
No bankruptcy information is required to be disclosed in this Iltem.
ltem 5
INITIAL FEES
Initial Franchise Fee
The initial franchise fee for a single Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchise is $35,000. The initial
fee if you already own at least one Sedona Taphouse restaurant is $20,000. You pay the initial franchise

fee in one lump sum when you sign the franchise agreement. The initial franchise fee is uniform to all
franchisees. The initial franchise fee is not refundable under any circumstances.
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Training Fee and Onsite Support Costs

Prior to the opening of your restaurant, we will provide initial training for you (or your operating
manager) and two other managers of your business, at no charge to you, except that you are responsible
for the expenses incurred by these four people in attending the initial training program, including transpor-
tation, lodging, meals and wages. We require you to pay us a training fee of $2,000 for each additional
person or replacement trainee who attends our initial training program beyond the first four people. You will
be responsible for room. board and travel expenses for your manager trainees.

In addition, we provide approximately two weeks (80 hours) of on-site pre-opening and opening
training for your employees at the site of your franchised business. Our training team arrives about one
week before the opening date. You will pay us an amount equal to the payroll of our training team during
this training. We require that you prepay our pre-opening employee training payroll with a deposit of $30,000
due two weeks before our opening training team is sent to train your hourly employees. Our actual payroll
cost depends on the number of trainers and the length of time needed and can be as high as $40,000 or
may exceed that number if you request additional support after the training period upon the opening of your
restaurant. If the actual cost exceeds $30,000, we will invoice you for the difference after your franchised
business opens. Our actual payroll cost can also be as low as $20,000. If our cost is less than $30,000, we
will refund the difference to you after the business opens.

We will also invoice you for the travel and lodging expenses that our training team incurred to
provide the pre-opening and opening training for your employees at the site of your franchised business.
These expenses range from $1,500 to approximately $19,000.

Development Fee

If you sign a multi-unit agreement (covering at least three units), you will pay us a development fee
for the right to open and operate multiple franchise units. The development fee will essentially be an ad-
vance payment of the initial fees of all the units you agree to open after your first unit, as reflected in the
development schedule of your multi-unit agreement. The amount of the development fee will vary depend-
ing on the background and financial capabilities of the developer and the number of units stated in the
development schedule. The development fee for three units is $60,000 if you already own a Sedona Tap-
house restaurant or $75,000 if you do not. This fee is equal to the total of the initial fees for the three units
($20,000 + $20,000 + $20,000 if you already own a Sedona Taphouse restaurant or $35,000 + $20,000 +
$20,000 if you do not). We will not charge a separate initial fee for each of these three franchises.

If your multi-unit agreement covers more than three units, you will pay us a development fee equal
to $60,000 or $75,000 plus $10,000 for each unit after the first three, which we will credit towards the initial
fee for each unit after the first three. The $10,000 balance will be due when you sign the fourth franchise
agreement and each subsequent franchise agreement. In other words, the development fee is equal to the
sum of (a) the initial franchise fee for your first three restaurants and (b) 50% of the initial franchise fee for
your fourth and each subsequent restaurant to be developed under the development schedule. If the then-
current initial fee increases for new franchisees, you will not be required to pay the higher initial fee. For
example, if your multi-unit agreement covers 10 restaurants and you are a new franchisee, you will pay us
a development fee of $145,000 ($75,000 for the first three units plus $70,000 for the next seven units.)

You pay the development fee in one lump sum when you sign the multi-unit agreement. The de-

velopment fee is not refundable regardless of whether you open all of the restaurants required under your
development schedule.
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The balance of the initial franchise fee for each restaurant after the first three is due when the lease
is signed for such restaurant. The portion of the development fee allocable to each restaurant will be cred-
ited against the initial franchise fee when the franchise agreement for each restaurant is signed.

You will sign your first franchise agreement at the time you sign the multi-unit agreement.

Based on the above numbers, as shown in the table below, if you sign a multi-unit agreement
covering three units, the initial amounts you will pay to us and our affiliates are as follows:

Low High
Development fees $60,000 $75,000
Pre-opening onsite training $30,000 * $40,000
Additional Initial headguarter training | $0 $2,000
Onsite training travel & lodging $1,500 $19,000
Total | $91,500 $136,000

* You must pay us a $30,000 deposit towards the payroll cost of our employees who provide pre-
opening training, and if the actual cost is less then we will refund the difference to you.

Iltem 6
OTHER FEES
Franchise Agreement
Type of Fee Amount Date Due Remarks
Royalty 4.5% of Gross Monday ofeach |iGr oss Sal eso i ncl

Sales

week with re-
spect to Gross
Sales for the
week ending the
prior Saturday

the franchised business (including off-
premises sales), whether collected or
not, but do not include sales tax. Pay-
ments will be made via ETF (electronic
funds transfer).

Marketing fee

1.5% of Gross
Sales

Monday of each
week with re-
spect to Gross
Sales for the
week ending the
prior Saturday

After the first five years of the term, we
may change the amount of the market-
ing fee or the timing of its payment from
time to time, provided that the marketing
fee is no more than 2% of your gross
sales in any 12-month period. Payments
will be made via ETF (electronic funds
transfer).

Relocation fee

$5,000 plus our

When billed, be-

Any relocation is subject to our prior ap-
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Type of Fee Amount Date Due Remarks
coverage plus a for you (although we are not obligated to
25% service do so).
charge
Additional initial train- | Our then-current | When billed, be- | This is in addition to the initial training for
ing rate, currently fore additional 3 people. Additional training takes place
$2,000 per per- training at one of our locations in the Richmond,
son trained VA, area.
Field assistance and | The then-current | When billed We may charge a fee for on-site assis-
training after the initial | rate of our per- tance that we provide at your request.
training. sonnel, currently
$350 per day plus
expenses
Customer Satisfaction | To be determined | When billed We may institute programs for auditing
Auditing or Mystery customer satisfaction and other quality
Shopper Program control measures, and to require you to
pay the cost of such programs.
Remedial work Our actual costs | When billed If you fail to correct an unhealthy or un-
and a 25% ser- safe condition after we notify you, we
vice charge on la- may complete the required work on your
bor and materials behalf and bill you.
Audit $2,000 to $5,000 | When billed Payable only if the audit shows an un-

derstatement of 2% or more for the pe-
riod of the audit or if the audit is made
necessary by your failure to furnish re-
quired information or documents to us in
a timely manner.

Transfer fee

50% of the then-
current initial fran-
chise fee

At the time the
transfer is con-
summated

This fee reimburses our reasonable
costs when there is a change in owner-
ship of your business.

Management fee

Weekly fee of
$2,000

When billed

Following the death or disability of a con-
trolling owner of your business, if the
business is not being managed properly,
we may appoint a manager until you ap-
point a trained replacement manager. .

Renewal fee 25% of the then- | When you sign You must satisfy all of the conditions for
current initial fee | the successor renewal.
agreement
Prohibited product or | $300 per day of If incurred In addition to other remedies available to
service fee use of unauthor- us. You must cure immediately upon
ized products or oral or written notification. The fee
-6 -
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Type of Fee Amount Date Due Remarks
services or non- applies for each day when you continue
compliance with to sell or purchase an unauthorized
system standards product or service, or you continue to be

out of compliance with our system
standards, after we have notified you to
cease.

Returned check/EFT | $50 for each NSF | As incurred This amount is in addition to the late

fee or EFT returned payment fee and interest, plus past due
amounts.

Interest The lesser of On demand May be charged on all past due
1.5% per month amounts, including the monthly balance
or the highest rate of principal and interest. If no due date
allowed by law is stated, interest begins to run 10 days

after billing.

Non-solicitation fee $5,000 When billed You must pay this fee If you hire an em-
ployee of ours.

Attorneys' fees and Our actual costs | As incurred Payable if we incur costs in obtaining in-

costs junctive or other relief for the enforce-
ment of any term of the franchise agree-
ment because of your default under the
franchise agreement.

Indemnification Our actual costs | As incurred You must reimburse us for claims
against us involving your business oper-
ations, including
fees.

Liquidated Damages

3 yearsbo
Royalty fees, or
$75,000, which-
ever is more

30 days after ter-
mination of the
franchise due to
your default

If we terminate the franchise due to your
default, as permitted by the franchise
agreement and applicable law, then you
must pay us an amount that equals the
average amount of royalties paid to us
over the prior 52 weeks (or such shorter
period in which the Restaurant has op-
erated), multiplied by the number 156.
The minimum payment is $75,000, re-
gardless of if the calculation described
below is lower or we terminate the fran-
chise before the Restaurant begins op-
erations. However, the liquidated dam-
ages amount shall be $50,000 if we
choose to exercise our option to assume
your lease (or lease the premises from
you) following termination. This remedy
is in addition to our rights to require
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Type of Fee Amount Date Due Remarks
compliance with the post-termination
covenant not to compete and other post-
termination covenants.
Multi-Unit Agreement
Type of Fee Amount Date Due Remarks
Transfer Fee $20,000 At the time the transfer is | This fee reimburses our reasona-

consummated ble costs.
Attorneys' Our actual costs As incurred Payable if we seek injunctive or
Fees and other relief for the enforcement of
Costs any term of the agreement be-
cause of your default under the
agreement.
Indemnification | Our actual costs As incurred You have to reimburse us for

claims involving your business
operations.

All fees described in this Item 6 are imposed by and payable to us and are non-refundable.

Fees stated as dollar amounts may be increased from time to time to reflect increases in the United Sates
Consumer Price Index for All Urban Consumers from the date of the franchise agreement, as published by
the U.S. Department of Labor, or a successor index.

Item 7

ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

YOUR ESTIMATED INITIAL INVESTMENT

Franchise Agreement Estimated Initial Investment

Amount Method of To Whom P t
Type of Expenditure ethod o When Due o0 WWhom Faymen
. Payment is to be Made
Low High
Initial franchise fee $20,000 $35,000 Lump sum | When you Us
sign the
(Note 1) franchise
agreement
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Amount

. Method of To Whom Payment
Type of Expenditure ) Payment When Due is to be Made
Low High
Pre-opening trainer $20,000 $40,000 $30,000 Deposit due | Us
payroll (Note 2) deposit be- | roughly two
fore train- to three
ing. Ad- weeks be-
justed after | fore opening
training.
Travel expenses for $1,500 $19,000 Lump sum | Asincurred | Us, as reimburse-
trainers (Note 3) ment for travel ex-
penses
Additional initial train- | $0 $2,000 Lump sum | Asincurred | Us
ing for each person in
addition to four
Leasehold improve- $1,140,000| $1,660,000| As in As incurred | Landlord and inde-
ments (Note 4) agreed pendent general con-
work tractor
schedule
Furniture, fixtures and | $225,000 | $350,000 | As agreed | Typically Approved suppliers
equipment (Note 4) upon order or other independent
suppliers
Signage (Note 4) $16,000 $25,000 As agreed | Typically Designated or ap-
upon order proved suppliers
Point of sale system, | $14,000 $20,000 As agreed | Typically Designated or ap-
computers, printers, half upon or- | proved suppliers
other hardware and der; half
business software upon com-
(Note 5) pletion
Small wares $15,000 $30,000 As agreed | Typically Approved suppliers
upon order or other independent
suppliers
Inventory $50,000 $65,000 As agreed | Typically Designated or ap-

upon receipt
of inventory

proved suppliers
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Amount

. Method of To Whom Payment
Type of Expenditure ) Payment When Due is to be Made
Low High
Televisions $2,800 $5,000 As agreed | Upon pur- Designated or ap-
chase proved suppliers
Menus $1,200 $1,500 As agreed | Upon pur- Designated or ap-
chase proved suppliers
Décor pictures $5,000 $7,500 As agreed | Upon pur- Designated or ap-
chase proved suppliers
Prepaid rent and se- $8,000 $20,000 As agreed | When you Landlord
curity deposit (Note 6) sign the
lease
Miscellaneous depos- | $3,000 $10,000 As agreed | Asincurred | Utility companies,
its equipment lessors
and others
Travel, living ex- $23,000 $36,000 As agreed | Asincurred | Airlines, hotels, res-
penses and salaries during train- | taurants and others
during initial training ing
(Note 7)
Opening parties $6,000 $8,000 As agreed | Asincurred Independent suppli-
ers
Legal and accounting | $4,000 $20,000 As agreed | Asincurred Independent profes-
fees (Note 8) sionals
Architect (Note 9) $18,000 $38,000 As agreed | As agreed Architect
with provider
Initial advertising $5,000 $7,000 As incurred | Asincurred | Approved suppliers
(Note 10)
-10 -
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Amount Method of To Whom P t
Type of Expenditure ethod o When Due o0 WWhom Faymen
. Payment is to be Made
Low High
Interior design $12,500 $25,000 As agreed | Typically Our designated de-
upon com- signer
pletion of
work
Insurance i liability $2,000 $6,000 As agreed | Asincurred | Independent carrier
and workers compen-
sation T initial deposit
(Note 11)
Additional funds 7 first | $60,000 $80,000 As incurred | As incurred
three months (Note
12)
Total (Note 13) $1,652,000 | $2,510,000

Note 1: The initial franchise fee for a single Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchise is $35,000.
The initial fee if you already own at least one Sedona Taphouse restaurant is $20,000. The initial fee is not
refundable.

Note 2: This covers the payroll of our training team during the pre-opening and opening training
that we provider for your employees at the site of your franchised business. We require that you prepay to
us the anticipated amount of the pre-opening trainer s & payr ol |l with a deposi
two weeks before our opening training team is sent to train your hourly employees. The team arrives about
one week before the opening date. The actual amount you pay us depends on the number of trainers and
the length of time needed. It may range from $20,000 to $40,000. After the business opens, we will either
refund to you any overpayment or bill you for any shortfall.

Note 3: This covers the travel and lodging expenses of our training team during the pre-opening and open-
ing training for your employees at the site of your franchised business. Once paid these amounts are not
refundable.

Note 4. These numbers are based on a 5,500 square foot prototype leased space. The cost of
leasehold improvements will vary as a function of (i) the size and configuration of the premises; (ii) pre-
construction costs (e.g., demolition of existing walls and removal of existing improvements and fixtures)
based on the condition of the premises; (iii) the availability and prices of materials; (iv) prices of labor and
price differences among contractors; and (v) geography and the location of the premises. Once paid these
amounts are not refundable.

Note 5: See Item 11 for information concerning the required computer, software and point of sale
systems. Once paid these amounts are not refundable.

Note6: This is an estimate for first monthoés re
The actual amount you pay under the lease will vary depending on the size of the annual rent, your ability
to negotiate with the landlord and the prevailing rental rates in the geographic area of the restaurant. The
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size of a typical Sedona Taphouse restaurant is between 4,200 and 6,000 square feet. The security deposit
is usually refundable, based on the terms of your | eas:

Note 7: This covers travel, lodging and meals for your selected staff for their initial training in
Richmond, Virginia, as well as the salaries of employees you will have working before opening. Refunda-
bility of those payments are determined by your contracts with airlines, hotels and other providers.

Note 8: Your attorney should review the franchise documents and the lease, and may also assist
you in forming an entity to be the franchisee. Once paid these amounts are rarely refundable.

Note 9: Your architect must use our approved design. Your architect may not act in the role of
interior designer. Once paid these amounts are rarely refundable.

Note 10: This represents the costs of activities for marketing and advertising before your franchise
is open and during the grand opening phase. We will guide you through this process. All strategies and
actions taken and materials used must be approved by us and must be consistent with the Sedona Tap-
house style guide section of our operations manual. Once paid these amounts are rarely refundable.

Note 11: See Item 8 for a description of the types of insurance you must maintain. Once paid these
amounts are refundable only if you cancel the policy, and then only as permitted by the insurance contract.

Note 12: These amounts are our estimate of the amount needed to cover your expenses for the
start-up phase of your business. They include payroll; utilities and telephone service and other costs. The
amounts are based on the experience of our affiliate in opening and operating its own Sedona Taphouse
restaurants. Once paid these amounts are rarely refundable.

Note 13: These figures are estimates. We cannot assure you that you will not have additional
expenses in starting the franchised business. These amounts do not include any estimates for debt service.

General

We have prepared these estimates based on our experience and that of our management team.
You should not plan to draw income from the operation during the start-up and development stage of your
business, the actual duration of which will vary materially from one restaurant to another. You must have
additional sums available, whether in cash or through a bank line of credit or have other assets that you
may liquidate or borrow against, to cover other expenses and any operating losses you may sustain,
whether during your start-up and development stage or beyond. The amount of necessary reserves will
vary greatly from franchisee to franchisee and will depend upon many factors, including the rate of growth
and success of your business, if any.

Because the costs and the level of reserves will vary from location to location, we strongly recom-
mend that you retain the services of an experienced accountant or financial advisor to review these figures
and to develop a business plan and financial projections for your particular business before you decide
whether to purchase the franchise. We also recommend that you (a) obtain independent estimates from
third-party vendors, (b) research applicable regulations and their impact on your costs and operations and
(c) carefully evaluate the adequacy of your total financial resources and reserves.

No Financing

We do not offer any financing to you, either directly or indirectly. We are unable to estimate whether
you will be able to obtain financing for any or all of your investment and, if so, the terms of such financing.
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Neither we nor any affiliate receives payment for the placing of financing. We do not guarantee or co-sign
your notes, leases or any other obligations.

Multi-Unit Agreement Estimated Initial investment

Amount To Whom
Ex;)éazi?sre '\gzt;]rﬂgncif When Due Payment is to
Low High be Made
Development $60,000 $75,000, plus Lump sum At signing of | Us
Fee (Note 14) $10,000 for the Multi-
each unit on Unit Agree-
the develop- ment
ment schedule
after the third
Estimated initial | $1,632,000 $2,475,000 See Franchise | See Fran- See Franchise
investment for Agreement ta- | chise Agree- | Agreement ta-
first restaurant ble above ment table ble above
(Note 15) above
Total $1,692,000 $2,550,000
plus $10,000
for each unit on
the develop-
ment schedule
after the third

Note 14: The development fee for the right to open three units is $60,000 if you already own a
Sedona Taphouse restaurant or $75,000 if you do not. This fee is equal to the total of the initial fees for the
three units ($20,000 + $20,000 + $20,000 if you already own a Sedona Taphouse restaurant or $35,000 +
$20,000 + $20,000 if you do not). This amount includes the initial franchise fee for the first location, which
is either $20,000 if you already own a Sedona Taphouse or $35,000 if you do not. We will not charge a
separate initial fee for each of these three franchises. If your multi-unit agreement covers more than three
units, you will pay us a development fee equal to $60,000 or $75,000 plus $10,000 (i.e., a 50% deposit
against the initial fee) for each unit after the first three. For example, the development fee for a new fran-
chisee for a multi-unit agreement covering ten restaurants would be $145,000 (i.e., $75,000 for the first
three units plus $70,000 for the next seven units.) It will be more if your multi-unit agreement covers a
larger number of units. You pay the development fee in one lump sum when you sign the multi-unit agree-
ment and the development fee is not refundable under any circumstances, regardless of whether you open
all restaurants envisioned in your development schedule.

Note 15: Estimates of the items that constitute your initial investment for the first Sedona Taphouse
restaurant you open under the multi-unit agreement appear in the table above in this Item 7. The amount
shown in this table excludes the initial franchise fee for the location, since that is paid as part of the devel-
opment fee described in Note 14.
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RESTRICTIONS ON SOURCES OF PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

If we designate suppliers for any food items, beverage items, supplies, fixtures, furnishings, equip-
ment, computer systems or other products used or offered for sale in your restaurant, you must obtain
these items from those suppliers. We may also designate categories or types of items that you must
purchase only from designated or approved suppliers. Approved suppliers are those who demonstrate the
ability to meet our standards and specifications and whom we have approved in writing and not later dis-
approved. We may designate ourselves or our affiliates as approved or designated suppliers of any item.

We estimate that 15% to 20% of your expenditure for leases and purchases in establishing your
Sedona Taphouse restaurant and 15% to 20% of your expenditures in operating the restaurant on an on-
going basis will be for goods and services that you must purchase from suppliers we designate or approve.

You must comply with all of our standards and specifications relating to the purchase of all items
used or offered for sale at the restaurant, even if we do not require you to use a designated or approved
supplier.

Required Purchases from Us

Currently, we do not require you to purchase any products or services from us.

Neither we nor any of our affiliates are a designated or approved supplier of any equipment or
supplies.

Designated and Approved Suppliers

We currently require you to purchase the following items from a designated or approved supplier
other than us or our affiliate:

Promotional and marketing items [Menus (dinner, lunch, to go, placards, menu holders)

Food & Beverage Food, produce, seafood, tea & coffee, beer liquor, wine

Supplies Restaurant equipment; restaurant furniture; menu and sil-
verware holders; small wares; furniture, fixtures and equip-
ment; chemicals; business cards; POS system; card pro-
cessing; artwork; uniforms; coasters; stickers; linen; can-
dles; candle holders; lighting fixtures; light bulbs; keg sup-
plies, bar supplies; plateware; flatware; glasses.

Admin/Utilities/Misc. Services Point of sale computer system; cable service; pest control;
payroll; security system; employee benefits (insurance and
401K); host wait service; music licenses; social media; mu-

sic; gift cards; accounting software; CO2 and nitrogen

You must use the following services:

our wait list and reservations management systems, currently OpenTable;

our point-of-sale system, currently Toast POS, and its product mix and sales reports; and

our online food ordering systems, currently
house, for most food items with some exceptions, including local produce and fresh fish.

=a =4 =4
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You must also use an approved music system, such as Programmed Pandora, with Sonos, a high-
guality sound system.

We will provide you with our manuals, style guides and various supplemental bulletins and notices
that will contain the specifications, standards and restrictions on your purchase of products and services,
and a list of designated and approved suppliers.

None of our officers owns an interest in any supplier other than us.
Rebates and Discounts

We and our affiliates may derive revenue in the form of commissions or rebates that third party
suppliers pay to us or our affiliates based on their sales of certain products to you. We may use the rebates
to subsidize some of our operating costs. In the year 2024, DJB Hospitality LLC received rebates of
$125,158 based on sales of certain items to both our company-owned and franchised Sedona Taphouse
restaurants, and our affiliatebés Napa Kitchen and Wine

We or our affiliates may receive discounts on equipment and other items, which we are not obli-
gated to pass on to you. We may negotiate other purchase agreements with suppliers for the benefit of
franchisees, but we are under no obligation to do so.

Approval Process

With regard to those categories or types of items that we have identified as being source-limited,
meaning that you must purchase only from one or more suppliers we designate, we are not obligated to
approve any supplier other than those we have designated. However, if you wish to purchase any such
item from a supplier or source that we have not previously designated or approved, you or your proposed
alternative supplier must submit to us a written request for such approval. We will give such approval only
if, in our sole discretion, we determine that our approval of such an alternative source or supplier is in the
best interests of the Sedona Taphouse system. We do not make our criteria for approving suppliers avail-
able to franchisees. We have the right to require that our representatives be permitted to inspect the sup-
pliersd facilities and that specifications, photograph
option, either to us or to an independent laboratory designated by us for testing. You must pay all of our
costs of the inspection and evaluation, including reasonable reimbursementofour st aff 6s wages f
time spent in such evaluation, and the actual cost of any independent laboratory test. We typically will notify
you of supplier approval or disapproval within 60 to 90 days after we receive all the information and samples
we request. We reserve the right to re-inspect the facilities and products of any approved supplier and to
revoke our approval if the supplier we determine that continued purchasing of such product source, or from
such supplier, is no longer in the best interests of the Sedona Taphouse Napa Kitchen and Wine system.

Purchases According to Specifications

You must comply with all of our standards and specifications relating to the purchase of all items
used or offered for sale at the restaurant, even if we do not require you to use a designated or approved
supplier. Among other things, you must comply with our specifications as follows:

Lease

You must submit to us for our approval a copy of the proposed lease for your franchised

restaurant before it is signed. We will not approve the lease unless it permits your interest in the
lease to be assigned to us or our assignee if the franchise agreement terminates or expires.
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Advertising

All materials you use in local advertising, promotions and public relations must conform to our
standards. All such materials must be clear, factual and not misleading. We intend to create and direct all
marketing and encourage you to submit your advertising and marketing ideas to us so we can create the
content. However, with regard to any advertising or promotional materials that we did not prepare and that
you propose to use, you must provide them to us for our approval or rejection at least 15 days before you
begin using them, and you may not utilize any advertising or promotions that we have disapproved.

Insurance

You must obtain and maintain insurance policies protecting you, DJB Franchising, LLC and DJB
Hospitality, LLC, and their members, managers and officers as additional insureds on a primary non-con-
tributory basis to the general liability policy and the auto liability policy.

The insurance must be underwritten by insurers licensed and admitted to write coverage in the
state in which the franchised restaurant is located and with a rating of A 0 o r . Theseé policies must
include the coverage we require. You and your insurers must agree to waive rights of subrogation against
us. At least 10 days before you are required to carry insurance, and after that at least 30 days before the
expiration of any policy, you must deliver to us certificates of insurance evidencing the proper types and
minimum amounts of required coverage, and evidence of the waiver.

If you fail to maintain the required insurance, we or our designee may obtain the insurance for you
and charge you for the premium costs plus a 25% service charge for acquiring the insurance. Each year
we may unilaterally modify the insurance minimum coverage requirements which may include an increase
to the minimum coverage requirements to reflect changes in inflation or as market conditions warrant.

Purchasing or Distribution Cooperatives

There are no purchasing or distribution cooperatives as of the date of this disclosure document.
We may establish national or regional purchasing or distribution programs for the purchase or distribution
of certain goods, materials or supplies at reduced prices. If a purchasing or distribution program is estab-
lished for the region where your Sedona Taphouse restaurant business is located, you must participate in
the program.

Other

We do not provide material benefits to you or withhold material benefits from you (such as renewal
rights or the right to open additional franchised Sedona Taphouse restaurants) based on whether or not
you purchase through the sources we designate or approve. On the other hand, any purchases you make
of unapproved products or from unapproved suppliers in violation of the franchise agreement will entitle us
to collect a fine (described in Item 6) and to terminate your franchise agreement.

See Item 16 for restrictions on what you may sell in the context of your franchised business.
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FRANCHISEE'S OBLIGATIONS

ltem 9

This table lists your principal obligations under the franchise and other agreements. It will
help you find more detailed information about your obligations in these agreements and in other

items of this disclosure document.

Obligation

Sections in the Franchise
Agreement

Disclosure Document Iltem

a. Site selection and acquisi-
tion/lease

Sections 1.2.1 through 1.2.4

Items 11 and 12

b. Pre-opening purchases/leases

Sections 1.2.5 through 1.2.7,
13,1.71and 1.7.2

ltems 7, 8 and 11

c. Site devel_opment _and other Sections 1.2, 1.3 and 1.7 Item 11
pre-opening requirements

d. Initial and ongoing training Section 1.5 ltem 11

e. Opening Section 1.2.8,1.2.9 and 1.5.3 ltem 11

f. Fees Section 2.1 Items 5 and 6

g. Compliance with standards
and policies/operating manual

Sections 1.2 through 1.7

Items 8, 11 and 16

h. Trademarks and proprietary in-

Sections 3.1 and 3.2

Items 13 and 14

formation

i. Restrictions on products/ser- Sections 1.1.4, 1.3 and 1.6.1 Item 16
vices offered

j- Warranty and customer service | Section 1.6.2 ltem 11
requirements

k. Territorial development and Not applicable Item 12
sales quotas

I. Ongoing product/service pur- Section 1.3.1 through 1.3.4 Item 8
chases

m. Maintenance, appearance and | Sections 1.2.5, 1.6.7, 1.6.8 and Item 11

remodeling requirements 1.6.9
n. Insurance Section 6.3 Items 7 and 8
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Obligation

Sections in the Franchise
Agreement

Disclosure Document Item

0. Advertising

Section 1.7

Items 7 and 11

p. Indemnification

Sections 4.2.9 and 6.2

Item 13

g. Owner's participation / man-
agement / staffing

Sections 1.1.7, 1.5 and 1.6.3

Items 11 and 15

r. Records and reports Sections 2.1.8 and 2.2 Item 11
s. Inspections and audits Sections 1.6.16 and 2.2 Item 11
t. Transfer Sections 4.1 and 4.2 Item 17
u. Renewal Section 5.1.2 Item 17
v. Post-termination obligations Sections 3.2, 3.3.3 and 5.3 Item 17

w. Non-competition covenants Section 3.3 Items 16 and 17
X. Dispute resolution Article VII Item 17
y. Other: Personal Guaranty Section 1.1.7 Item 15
Item 10
FINANCING

We do not offer direct or indirect financing. We do not guaranty your lease or any other obligation.

Item 11

FRANCHISOR'S ASSISTANCE, ADVERTISING, COMPUTER SYSTEMS AND TRAINING

Except as listed below, we are not required to provide you with any assistance.

Before Opening

Before you open your franchised business, we will provide the following assistance:

1. We review site proposals you submit to us and approve, reject or provide comments to you regard-
ing each proposal. We do not own locations and lease them to franchisees. We review the proposed
lease or loan agreement (if you plan to purchase the real property of the site) to be sure that it
allows us certain rights in the event of your default. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 1.2.3 and

1.2.4.)
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2. We provide you with a design package, including a sample layout for the interior of a typical Sedona
Taphouse restaurant with a set of typical preliminary plans and equipment and décor specifications.
(Franchise Agreement, Section 1.2.5.) We also specify the interior designer you must use for your
restaurant. We then review, comment on and approve your final plans and specifications when they
are satisfactory to us, and we consult with you on the construction and equipping of the franchised
restaurant. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 1.2.5 and 1.3.) You are responsible for the construction
and conforming the premises to local ordinances and building codes, and for obtaining required
permits. We will make a final inspection of the franchised restaurant after you complete its con-
struction. We may require any corrections and modifications we deem necessary to bring the fran-
chised restaurant into compliance with accepted plans, equipment, designs and specifications.

3. We loan you one copy of our confidential operations manuals and supplementary materials, which
we revise periodically. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.4.) The manual remains our property. As
of the date of this disclosure document, the operations manual contains approximately 30 pages
and our design manual contains approximately 51 pages. We may modify the manuals from time
to time, but the modifications will not alter your status and rights under the franchise agreement.
The tables of contents of the operations manual and the design manual are attached to this disclo-
sure document as Exhibit E.

4, We provide to you a list of our approved products, equipment and suppliers. (Franchise Agreement,
Section 1.3.)
5. We provide an initial six-week training program (450 hours) for you (or your operating manager)

and two other managers of your business, as explained below in this Item 11. If you wish to have
additional personnel trained, we charge our fees, currently $2,000 per person. (Franchise Agree-
ment, Section 1.5.2.)

6. We provide approximately two weeks (80 hours) of on-site pre-opening and opening training, su-
pervision and assistance at your franchised Sedona Taphouse restaurant. You will bear the cost of
the salaries of our training team personnel and their travel and lodging expenses for this training.
(Franchise Agreement, Section 1.5.3.)

7. We provide you with advertising and promotional guidelines, materials and lists of suppliers for your
grand opening and your ongoing public relations and advertising. (Franchise Agreement, Sections
1.7.2 through 1.7.4.)

8. We provide such other assistance and support as we may deem necessary or desirable to assist
you with the launch of your Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchised business.

During Operation
During the operation of the franchised business, we will provide the following assistance:

1. Provide you with amendments and revisions that we choose to make to the manual. (Franchise
Agreement, Section 1.4.2.)

2. Invite you to any mandatory or optional training or refresher courses that we offer to franchisees.
We do not charge for refresher courses that we require your personnel to attend, but you must pay
the travel and living expenses and the salaries of your personnel. We also provide training for
additional and replacement managers and other employees at your request, in which case you will
pay our then-current fees and expenses. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 1.5.4, 1.5.5. and 1.5.6.)
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3. Provide any modifications to our standards and lists of approved suppliers and distributors for your
use in the acquisition of equipment, inventory, materials, supplies and furnishings for your fran-
chised restaurant, to facilitate your compliance with our requirements. (Franchise Agreement, Sec-
tion 1.3.)

4. Provide you with any in-store POS advertising materials, and updates to our toolkit of approved
local advertising, that we make from time to time. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.7.4)

5. Review all advertising materials you submit to us for your use in local advertising. (Franchise Agree-
ment, Section 1.7.4.)

6. Maintain and administer regional or national advertising, public relations and marketing designed
to promote and enhance all Sedona Taphouse restaurant businesses, to the extent such activities
are commercially reasonable given the number and locations of the restaurants. You must partic-
ipate in all system-wide promotions and advertising campaigns. We will administer the marketing
and support fund, and cooperatives if they are formed, as described below. (Franchise Agreement,
Section 1.7.5.)

7. Maintain a website to advertise and promote Sedona Taphouse restaurant businesses. Your loca-
tion will be included in a list of Sedona Taphouse restaurant locations on the Sedona Taphouse
restaurant website. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.8.)

8. Cause our representatives to be available to you at all reasonable times for consultation by tele-
phone or other remote communication methods concerning all aspects of operating the franchised
business, upon reasonable notice. We may charge you a reasonable fee for providing assistance
at the restaurant at your request. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.5.7.)

9. Provide regular operational reviews and advise you from time to time regarding the operation of
the Franchised Business based on reports you submit to us and inspections we make, to ensure
your compliance with the System Standards and to recommend improvements. (Franchise Agree-
ment, Section 1.5.7.)

Advertising
Marketing and Support Fund

You will be required to pay marketing fees, at the same time that you pay your royalty fee, into a
marketing and support fund that we maintain. The amount of the marketing fee is equal to 1.5% of the
gross sales of your restaurant. (Franchise Agreement, Section 2.1.4.)

We use the marketing and support fund to finance our management of regional advertising and
any national advertising we may do in the future. We administer the fund. We may establish an entity to
operate the marketing and support fund, but we do not now have such an entity.

We account for the fund separately from our other funds and we will not use it to defray any of our
general operating expenses, except for reasonable salaries, administrative costs, travel expenses and
overhead as we may incur in activities related to the administration of the marketing and support fund and
its programs. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 1.7.6 through 1.7.11.) We do not make financial statements
of the fund available for your review. The fund is not audited.
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The Marketing and Support Fund will be used to enhance the recognition of the Marks and the
patronage of Sedona Taphouse restaurants nationally or regionally. We or our designee will have sole
discretion over all matters relating to the Marketing and Support Fund, including without limitation the cre-
ative concepts, materials and endorsements used, and the geographic, market and media placement and
allocation. The marketing and support fund may be used, for example, to pay the costs of producing video,
audio and written advertising materials, administering national and regional advertising and engaging ad-
vertising, promotion and advertising agencies to assist us, website development and maintenance, toll-free
telephone costs, and supporting public relations, market research and other advertising, promotion and
marketing activities. Such advertising may use any form of media, including direct mail, print ads, radio and
television. The source of the advertising may be our in-house advertising department or an outside adver-
tising agency. If we or our affiliates provide in-house advertising department services, we or our affiliates
may be reasonably compensated from the marketing and support fund. We will not use the marketing and
support fund to sell franchises, although we may use materials financed by the marketing and support fund
on the system website (described below), which may advertise the Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchise
opportunity. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.7.7.)

Any amount of marketing fees that we do not spend in the year they accrue are carried forward and
included in the following yearé6és marketing budget. (Fr.

Although we will endeavor to use the marketing and support fund to develop advertising programs
and to place advertising that will benefit all franchisees, we cannot ensure that expenditures from the mar-
keting and support fund in any geographic area are proportionate or equivalent to contributions to the fund
by franchisees operating in the geographic area or that your franchised business will benefit directly or in
proportion to your contribution to the fund. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.7.10.)

Company or affiliate owned Sedona Taphouse restaurant businesses contribute to the marketing
and support fund on the same basis as Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchisees.

Marketing funds were spent in 2024 as follows: 16.64% on social media ads, 12.63% on social
media technology, 10.60% on evaluation services, 30.99% on marketing director and related payroll, 1.63%
on advertising agency, 25.72% on printed ads and the remaining 2.24% on radio.

We reserve the right to defer, reduce or suspend contributions to the Marketing and Support Fund,
and, upon 30 daysdé prior notice to you, to suspend ope
or more periods of any length, and to terminate (and, if terminated, to reinstate) the Marketing and Support
Fund (and, if suspended, deferred or reduced, to reinstate such contributions). If the Marketing and Sup-
port Fund is terminated, all unspent monies, if any, on the date of termination will be distributed to Napa
Kitchen and Wine restaurants in proportion to their respective contributions to the Marketing and Support
Fund during the preceding twelve-month period.

Advertising Councils and Cooperatives

We have the power to form, change or dissolve advertising councils. (Franchise Agreement, Sec-
tions 1.6.14)

We do not currently require you to participate in any local or regional advertising cooperatives.
However, we have the right to establish and coordinate cooperative advertising and sales programs, cus-
tomer satisfaction programs and similar programs from time to time among Sedona Taphouse restaurant
franchisees. We may require you to participate in such programs on an equitable basis with other partici-
pants. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.7.12.)
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Local Advertising, System-Wide Promotions, and Charity Initiatives

We require you to spend at least 2% of your gross sales on local advertising. You must participate
in all system-wide promotions and advertising campaigns. We may also require you to participate in one of
our approved local charity initiatives on a monthly basis as part of our overall advertising plan. The amounts
you spend on such promotions, campaigns and initiatives will count toward this 2% requirement, except for
the Marketing Fees you pay to us. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.7.3.)

We will create in-store point of sale materials and a toolkit of approved advertising that we will
furnish to you for your use. We encourage you to submit your local advertising ideas to our marketing
department for creative implementation. You may also develop local advertising materials for your own use,
at your own cost, but may only use advertising materials that we have approved. We will endeavor to
approve or disapprove the advertising materials within 15 days after we receive it from you, but we are not
required to approve independently created advertising. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.7.4.)

We have the right to advertise Sedona Taphouse franchises on the menu and in your restaurant.
(Franchise Agreement, Section 1.7.16.)

Website

We maintain a system website, and we may establish other websites, to advertise, market and
promote the Sedona Taphouse restaurants and the Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchise opportunity.
We may use the marketing and support fund assets to develop, maintain and update those parts of the
system website that promote the Sedona Taphouse restaurants. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.8.1.)

You must obtain our approval of any materials that you place on the Internet concerning the Res-
taurant, including any advertising, before you place or disseminate it. We will endeavor to approve or
disapprove such advertising within 15 days after we receive it from you. (Franchise Agreement, Sections
1.7.4 and 1.7.13))

Social Media

We have established social media accounts on Twitter, Facebook and Instagram that are intended
to promote the SEDONA TAPHOUSE trademark, your Sedona Taphouse restaurant, and the entire net-
work of Sedona Taphouse restaurants. We will have the sole right to control all aspects of any social media
marketing, including those related to your Sedona Taphouse restaurant. (Franchise Agreement Sect.
1.7.14)

Gift Cards

You must participate in our company-wide gift card program, which we may modify or terminate in
our discretion. (Franchise Agreement Sect. 1.7.15) We currently use a centralized gift card program ad-
ministered by Paytronix. All money from gift card sales at all Sedona Taphouse restaurants is deposited in
a central bank account of ours. We do not include revenues from gift card sales in gross sales for the
purpose of determining the royalties you owe. When your customer pays at your franchised restaurant
using a gift card, we include the amount paid by gift card as part of your Gross Sales for determining royalty
fees. Paytronix will remit payments to you once each month for gift cards redeemed at your franchised
restaurant. We may sell discount gift cards to some stores, such as Costco. Our payments to you from any
such redeemed discount gift cards will also be discounted.
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Site Selection

You are responsible for selecting the site for your franchised business. You must independently
evaluate and investigate the proposed site, even if it is one that we suggest. Within 90 days after the date
of this Agreement, you must deliver to us notice of the proposed Site together with the address and unex-
ecuted copies of either (a) the proposed lease for the Site if you plan to lease it, or (b) the proposed pur-
chase documents for the Site if you plan to purchase it. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 1.2.1 and 1.2.2.)
We are not obligated to approve a site that you purchased or leased prior to obtaining our approval of it as
the site for the franchise. We may take up to 30 days to approve or disapproval a site that you propose.
Our failure to agree with you on a site or to reach agreement in a timely manner can result in your inability
to open the restaurant for business within nine months after the date of your franchise agreement, which
can result in the termination of your agreement.

In evaluating proposed sites, we may inspect the site, and we may consider a variety of factors,
including demographic characteristics, character and attractiveness of the neighborhood, traffic patterns,
parking, physical characteristics of existing buildings, lease terms, competing outlets and the proximity to
other Sedona Taphouse restaurants.

You will be solely responsible for negotiating and complying with the terms of the lease. We must
review the lease before you sign it to ensure that our minimum lease requirements have been met. (Fran-
chise Agreement, Section 1.2.3.) We may condition our approval of the lease upon inclusion in the lease
of provisions granting us certain rights upon your default. We are not responsible for reviewing the lease
for any terms other than those giving us the rights we require. You should consult with an attorney who is
experienced in reviewing commercial leases. You must submit a copy of the signed lease or site purchase
agreement to us within 14 days after both parties have signed it. (Sections 1.2.3 and 1.2.4.)

You may not relocate your franchised Sedona Taphouse restaurant without first obtaining our writ-
ten consent. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.2.10.) We will consider both the reasons for your requested
relocation and the attributes of the proposed new site. Relocation will require a new build-out, renovation
to the current standards and design, lease modification, franchise agreement changes and a fee to cover
our costs and expenses.

Time of Opening

We estimate that the time from the signing of the franchise agreement or the first payment of any
amount to us and the opening your franchised business will be approximately 10 to 12 months. The time of
opening will depend on the time necessary to negotiate the lease and obtain financing and the permits and
licenses for the construction and operation of the restaurant. This time may also depend on the time re-
quired to complete construction or remodeling as it may be affected by weather conditions, shortages,
delivery schedules and other similar factors.

We may terminate the franchise agreement if you do not open the restaurant for business within
12 months after the date of your franchise agreement. However, we will not unreasonably withhold our
consent to your request for a three-month extension if, as of the 12-month mark, you are taking all rea-
sonable steps to open the restaurant in a timely manner and you are otherwise not in breach of the
agreement. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 1.2.9 and 5.2.2.3.)

Computer and Point of Sale Systems
We currently require you to purchase the Toast poin

the brands and models of computers, monitors, tablets and printers you must use, but we do not do so
currently. Any computer equipment you use must be industry-standard and meet our specifications. You
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may obtain this equipment from any vendor so long as the vendors and models meet our requirements.
(Franchise Agreement, Section 1.3.8.)

Your system must be Internet-connected via broadband at all times and interfaced with our system
to enable us to electronically access your daily receipts figures from our headquarters at any time. In other
words, we will have independent access to the information generated and stored in your cash register or
computer systems. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 1.3.9 and 1.3.10.)

You must pay a third-party vendor to maintain your computer system. Several updates and up-
grades may be required during the term of your franchise agreement, and any such updates or upgrades
will be at your expense. We cannot estimate the future cost of maintaining, updating or upgrading your
computer or point of sale systems or their components. It will depend on the local costs of computer mainte-
nance services in your area and technological developments that we cannot predict. We have no contrac-
tual obligation with any third party to maintain or upgrade your computer system, but we may require up-
grades in accordance with the terms of the franchise agreement. There is no limitation on the frequency or
cost of such upgrades.

The cost of the required computer equipment is approximately $14,000 to $20,000.
Training Program

Before you sign the franchise agreement, you must identify and obtain our approval of an operating
manager acceptable to us who will supervise the operation of the business. If you are a sole proprietor, you
are the operating manager. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.5.1.)

Before you open your franchised restaurant for business, we require your operating manager and
at least two other managers from your business (so 3 total) to attend and complete our initial six-week
training program to our satisfaction. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.5.2.) We conduct this training at one
of our company or affiliate locations in Richmond, Virginia. You must pay the compensation and travel,
lodging and meal expenses of your managers who attend the initial training.

If any of the three required people who attend initial training does not satisfactorily complete the
initial training program or if we determine that any such person cannot satisfactorily complete the training
program, you will be required to designate a replacement to satisfactorily complete the training. If your
Sedona Taphouse restaurant has been operating and your operating manager ceases active management
or work at your business, then a replacement operating manager acceptable to us must be appointed and
trained to our satisfaction within 30 days. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.5.6.)

We will charge an additional fee of $350 per day per employee plus travel and living expenses for
our personnel if we provide any training at your request that is not mandatory. We do not charge for training
related to the introduction of new or updated products, classes, methods or procedures, or for refresher
courses or other mandatory training unless we require training because your personnel are not meeting our
standards. If any review indicates noncompliance with any system standards or if we receive negative
customer feedback, we may require previously trained and experienced managers and employees to attend
refresher training courses at such times and locations as we desighate, and we may send our personnel to
your franchised business for training. In these cases, we may also charge a fee, currently $350 per day per
employee, plus travel and living expenses for our personnel. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.5.4.) If we
do not charge for training, you must nevertheless pay the travel and living expenses and salaries of your
personnel who attend. Refresher courses will take place at one of our company or affiliate locations in
Virginia. The duration, frequency and content of refresher courses will be similar to the initial training pro-
gram described below.
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We seek to complete the initial training approximately four weeks before the projected opening date
of your franchise, and your managers must complete it at least ten days before the opening date. Scheduled
refresher training will be available before the opening date.

Initial training programs will be offered at various times during the year depending on the number
of new franchisees entering the system, the numbers of replacement personnel who need training and the
timing of the scheduled openings of Sedona Taphouse restaurants.

The instructional materials consist of our manual and other materials we prepare for this program,
including videos, advertising materials and detailed protocols, checklists and reports.

Abdel Rafai, our Vice President of Operations, is the lead instructor for our training program. Mr.
Rafai has about 30 years of experience in operating restaurants, including serving as a joint venture partner
with Carrabbads |t alsjoaenseeldg multiple rdstaurants witkimr a géographieragion.
Since 2016 he has overseen operations of the Sedona Taphouse and Napa Kitchen and Wine restaurants
operated by our affiliates. In addition, our instructors with regard to discrete aspect of food preparation and
service generally have at least five years of experience in the subjects they teach, and at least two years
of experience working in our company or one of our affiliates.

The following table provides detailed information about the initial training program.

TRAINING PROGRAM

Subject Hours of Hours of Location
Classroom | On-the-Job
Training Training

Front of House
Orientation 1 0 Richmond, VA
Host 0 22 Richmond, VA
Server 3 41 Richmond, VA
Bartender 2 42 Richmond, VA
Server Back/Bar Back 0 11 Richmond, VA

Back of House
Prep/Dish 1 10 Richmond, VA
Prep/Salad 1 32 Richmond, VA
Prep/Pizza 0 33 Richmond, VA
Prep/Grill 0 44 Richmond, VA
Prep/Saute 0 44 Richmond, VA
Prep/Captain 0 44 Richmond, VA
Line Float 0 11 Richmond, VA

Manager
Culinary manager/Kitchen operations 0 55 Richmond, VA
Operations manager 0 55 Richmond, VA
Total 8 444

For clarity, your general manager and assistant general manager must complete 8 weeks of training, over
approximately 56 hours per week concerning all of the subjects specified above. The kitchen manager will
have to complete 5 weeks of training, with roughly the same weekly schedule, for the Back of House and
Culinary Manager/Kitchen operations aspects of the training.
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We may require that any or all of your managers attend refresher courses, seminars, and other
training programs periodically.

We also provide approximately two weeks (80 hours) of on-site pre-opening and opening training,
supervision and assistance at your franchised Sedona Taphouse restaurant. You will bear the cost of the
salaries of our training team personnel and their travel and lodging expenses for this training.

You must also ensure that your employees receive the following training at your cost:

1 Food handlers must complete a required course in food safety and handling either locally or through
our approved online training.

f Managers must successfully complete a manager sbo

ServSafe.
9 Front of house personnel, servers and bartenders must also attend and pass alcohol training.
Item 12

TERRITORY
Franchise Agreement

You will receive a territory for your franchise, which it typically defined as a radius around your
approved site. The size of the territory will range from a radius of one mile in urban areas to a radius of five
miles in suburban areas. Within this territory, we will not establish another Sedona Taphouse restaurant,
whether franchised or company-owned.

We retain the right to establish Sedona Taphouse restaurants in non-traditional venues such as
airports, hotels and resorts, military installations, school and university campuses, casinos, theme parks
and sports stadiums, within or outside your territory. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.1.6.2.)

Because we have the right to establish Sedona Taphouse restaurants in non-traditional venues,
you will not receive an exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets
that we own, or from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control.

In the event that we merge with, acquire or are acquired by another company that competes with
us, we and our affiliates reserve the right to offer and sell and authorize others to offer and sell competing
products and services under any other names and marks while your franchise agreement is in effect.

You may not relocate the business without obtaining our prior written consent. (Franchise Agree-
ment, Section 1.2.10.)

You may not market or sell outside of your territory in any manner or do any social media or Internet
advertising without our prior written approval, which we may withhold in our discretion.

You do not receive the right to acquire additional franchises or to establish or operate another
Sedona Taphouse restaurant business unless you enter into a separate franchise agreement with us.

There is ho minimum sales quota.
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Multi-Unit Franchise

Underthemultcuni t of fering, we assign a defined geographi

which you will have the right to develop and operate a specified number of Sedona Taphouse restaurants
within a specified period of time. The territory will typically be large enough to accommodate at least three
Sedona Taphouse restaurants, based on our market studies. We intend to grant multi-unit agreements for
territories that encompass either a section of a state comprised of multiple counties or an entire state. It will
be described in Schedule A of your multi-unit agreement. For each Sedona Taphouse restaurant you open
under the multi-unit agreement, promptly after our approval of the site for the Sedona Taphouse restaurant,
you must sign a separate Franchise Agreement in the then-current form. We call multi-unit franchisees
Afdevel oper so.

We retain the right to establish Sedona Taphouse restaurants in non-traditional venues such as
airports, hotels, military installations and sports stadiums, within or outside your Development Area. Except
for non-traditional venues, during the term of the multi-unit agreement we will not open or operate a Sedona
Taphouse restaurant in your Development Area and we will not grant to any other person or entity the right
to open or operate a Sedona Taphouse restaurant in your Development Area.

Because we have the right to establish Sedona Taphouse restaurants in non-traditional venues,
you will not receive an exclusive territory. You may face competition from other franchisees, from outlets
that we own, or from other channels of distribution or competitive brands that we control.

We also retain the right to acquire and operate, or be acquired by, any company. In the event that
we merge with, acquire or are acquired by another company that competes with us, we reserve the right to
offer and sell and authorize others to offer and sell competing products and services under any other names
and marks while your multi-unit agreement is in effect.

In order for you to maintain your rights in the Development Area under the multi-unit agreement,
you must meet the minimum requirements contained in Schedule B of the agreement (the development
schedule). The development schedule requires that the specified minimum number of Sedona Taphouse
restaurants be opened by defined dates during the term of the agreement. The development requirements
are determined based on our market studies of the territory and our discussions with you. The smallest
development schedule will typically call for the development of at least three Sedona Taphouse restaurants
over a period of three years. Your failure to adhere to the development schedule gives us the right to
terminate the multi-unit agreement upon notice to you with immediate effect. (Multi-Unit Agreement, Section
5.2.1.2.) Your failure to adhere to the development schedule also gives us the right, instead of terminating
the agreement, to reduce the size of your territory or reduce the number of Sedona Taphouse restaurants
to be opened. (Multi-Unit Agreement, Section 5.3.2.)

Your multi-unit agreement will expire on the date that the last franchised restaurant required by
your development schedule opens for business or, if sooner, the date it was required to be opened for
business. (Multi-Unit Agreement, Section 5.1.) Your territorial rights within the Development Area end when
the multi-unit agreement expires; however, you will retain the territory rights for each restaurant that you
own that operates under a franchise agreement with us.

You do not receive the right to acquire additional territories, or to develop franchises outside of your
territory, unless you enter into another multi-unit agreement or Franchise Agreement with us.
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Item 13

TRADEMARKS

We grant you the right to operate a franchise under the name SEDONA TAPHOUSE and the logo
shown on the cover of this disclosure document. You may also use our other current or future Marks in the
operation of your franchise. By Marks we mean trade names, trademarks, service marks and logos used
to identify your Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchised business.

Our affiliate, DJB Hospitality, LLC, owns the following trademarks, which are registered on the
Principal Register of the United States Patent and Tr a

Mark Registration No. Registration Date
SEDONA TAPHOUSE 4,133,037 April 24, 2012
STH SEDONA TAPHOUSE 4,695,293 March 3, 2015
vertical logo
SEDONA TAPHOUSE & 4,695,294 March 3, 2015

Mountain Design

We have a license from DJB Hospitality, LLC to use these Marks in our franchise business. DJB
Hospitality, LLC has filed all required affidavits and renewals as they have come due and intends to continue
to do so.

There are no agreements currently in effect that significantly limit our right to use or license the
trademarks in any manner material to the franchise. We know of no infringing uses that could materially
affect your use of the Marks.

There are no determinations of the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, the Trademark Trial and
Appeal Board, or any state trademark administrator or court, or any pending interference, opposition or
cancellation proceedings or pending material litigation involving any of the Marks that is relevant to their
ownership or use in the states in which the franchised business is to be located.

You must immediately notify us of any apparent infringement of the Marks or challenge to your use
of any of the Marks or claim by any person of any rights in any of the Marks. You are not permitted to
communicate with any person other than us or our designated affiliate, their counsel and your counsel
involving any infringement, challenge or claim. We can take action and have the right to exclusively control
any litigation or Patent and Trademark Office or other administrative or agency proceeding caused by any
infringement, challenge or claim or otherwise relating to any of the Marks. You must execute any and all
documents, and do what may, in our counsel d&ds opinion,
in any litigation or Patent and Trademark Office or other administrative or agency proceeding or to otherwise
protect and maintain our interests and the interests of any other person or entity having an interest in the
Marks. (Franchise Agreement, Section 3.1.5.)

We will indemnify you against and reimburse you for all damages for which you are held liable for
your use of any of the Marks, provided that your conduct in the proceeding and your use of the Marks is in
full compliance with the terms of the franchise agreement. (Franchise Agreement, Section 6.2.2.)
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Except as stated above, we are not obligated by the franchise agreement to protect any rights
granted to you to use the Marks or to protect you against claims of infringement or unfair competition with
respect to them. Although we are not contractually obligated to protect the Marks or your right to use them,
as a matter of corporate policy, we intend to defend the Marks vigorously.

You may not use the Marks as a part of your corporate or other legal name, and you must comply
with our instructions in filing and maintaining trade name or fictitious name registrations. You must execute
any documents we require to protect the Marks or to maintain their continued validity and enforceability. In
addition, you may not directly or indirectly contest the validity of our rights in and to the Marks. (Franchise
Agreement, Sections 3.1.2 and 3.1.3.)

You may not own a domain name that includes
addresses as we authorize, and you must comply with policies we establish from time to time for your use
of email and any web portal we create. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 1.3.9 and 1.7.13.)

We may require you, at your expense, to discontinue or modify your use of any of the Marks or to
use one or more additional or substitute Marks if we determine that an addition or substitution will benefit
the Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchise system. (Franchise Agreement, Section 3.1.4.)

Item 14

PATENTS, COPYRIGHTS AND PROPRIETARY INFORMATION
Patents and Copyrights

We do not own any patents that are material to your franchised business or the Sedona Taphouse
restaurant franchise system.

We claim all rights and interests, including all copyrights, to the information contained in the man-
uals, advertising materials, the Sedona Taphouse restaurant website and all our communications to you in
writing or otherwise setting forth our standards, requirements, operating procedures or policies relating to
the operation of a Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchise, as well as any revisions and additions to these
materials and any computer programs or other copyrightable materials we create for use in the restaurant
operating system. (Franchise Agreement, Section 3.1.1.) We have not registered the copyrights in any of
these materials.

Proprietary Information

Your knowledge of the operation of the franchised business, including the specifications, standards
and operating procedures, is derived from information that we disclose to you. This information, including
the information contained in the manuals and the information presented during training, is confidential ma-
terial owned by us. Our confidential information includes our recipes, mixes and preparation methods and
serving techniques for beverages, cocktails and food; our methods of operation; our sales and marketing
techniques; our planned marketing and advertising programs; the content of our training and assistance;
the contents of the Manual; the operating results and financial performance of other restaurant franchisees;
all customer lists and other information we receive from you; and user hames and passwords allowing
access to protected areas on our website or computer network. (Franchise Agreement, Section 3.2.1.)

We also claim ownership of all demographic data and customer lists generated by your activity as
a franchisee. (Franchise Agreement, Section 3.2.1.)
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You must maintain the absolute confidentiality of this proprietary information during and after the
term of the franchise agreement and you cannot disclose, sell or use any such information in any other
business or in any manner not specifically authorized or approved in writing by us. (Franchise Agreement,
Section 3.2.2.) You may use such information only in furtherance of the franchise business.

Each manager of your franchised business and each person who receives training from us or oth-
erwise has access to our confidential information, and each owner of your business, if you are a legal entity,
must sign a written agreement that contains similar nondisclosure obligations. See Item 15.

You must notify us promptly in writing if you learn about any unauthorized use of our copyrights or
proprietary information. We are not obliged to take any action, but we will respond to this information as we
think appropriate. (Franchise Agreement, Section 3.1.5.)

All improvements in the Sedona Taphouse restaurant system that you develop will become our
property. We will have the sole right to protect such improvements in our name or in the name of any of our
affiliates by means of copyright, patent, trade secret or trademark law. (Franchise Agreement, Section
1.4.3.) You must promptly disclose all such improvements to us.

Item 15

OBLIGATION TO PARTICIPATE
IN THE ACTUAL OPERATION OF THE FRANCHISE BUSINESS

Your operating manager must devote his or her full time, attention and effort to the franchised
business and provide direct, day-to-day supervision of the operation. You must obtain our advance approval
of any operating manager who you propose to designate. If you are a sole proprietor, you are the operating
manager. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.5.1.)

Before your Sedona Taphouse restaurant opens for business, we require that your operating man-
ager and two other managers from your company attend and complete our initial training program to our
satisfaction. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.5.2. See Item 11.)

If at any time your Sedona Taphouse restaurant is not being managed by an operating manager
who has attended and completed our initial training program to our satisfaction, we are authorized, but not
required, to appoint a manager to maintain operations on your behalf. (Franchise Agreement, Section
1.5.6.) Our appointment of a manager does not relieve you of your obligations under the franchise agree-
ment. We will not be liable for any debts, losses, costs or expenses incurred during any period in which we
manage the franchised business. We have the right to charge a reasonable service fee for such manage-
ment services, the current amount of which is $2,000 per day, and we may cease providing such services
at any time. (Franchise Agreement, Section 4.2.8.)

If you are a legal entity such as a corporation or limited liability company rather than an individual
or general partnership, then each owner of 10% or more ownership in your company must sign a guaranty
and assumption of obligations in the form of Exhibit F2. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.1.7.) Any breach
of this guaranty by any such owner will be deemed a breach of this Agreement.

Each manager of your franchised business and each person who receives training from us or oth-
erwise has access to our confidential information who has not signed the guaranty described in the preced-
ing paragraph must sign a written confidentiality and noncompetition agreement with your company in a
form acceptable to us, subject to any restrictions on such agreements imposed by the laws of the state
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where you operate the franchise. Any breach of such an undertaking by any such person will be deemed a
breach of the franchise agreement. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.5.8)

We do not impose any other restrictions on your managers.
Item 16
RESTRICTIONS ON WHAT THE FRANCHISEE MAY SELL

You must offer for sale in your franchised business all of the beverages, cocktails and food items
that we specify, and you may not sell any products or services that we do not specify or approve. You must
sell all the food and beverage products that are included on menus prescribed or approved by us. You must
follow our recipes for all menu items. You may not sell in the franchised business any products or services
we do not specify or approve. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.1.4.) You must prepare and serve these
products in accordance with our requirements. You must not deviate from our standards and specifications
without first obtaining our written consent. Upon notice from us given at any time, you must discontinue
offering for sale any items, products or services we may disapprove of or discontinue.

The primary business of each franchise is that of an upscale, full-service, sit-down restaurant. Your
franchised business may also offer catering, take-away, delivery and special events within the Territory,
provided that all receipts from such sales are processed through the point-of-sale system described in Iltem
11. (Franchise Agreement, Section 1.1.5.)

We can, and expect to, modify our required products, standards and specifications as we deem
necessary or desirable. (Franchise Agreement, Sections 1.1.4 and 1.4.2.) There are no limits on our right
to do so except that our requirements must stay within the scope of an upscale, full-service, sit-down res-
taurant.

There are no restrictions regarding customers you may service.

Item 17

RENEWAL, TERMINATION, TRANSFER AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION
THE FRANCHISE RELATIONSHIP

This table lists certain important provisions of the franchise and related agreements. You
should read these provisions in the agreements attached to this disclosure document.

Sections in the Franchise
Agreement (AF

IOl Multi-Unit Agreement STl
(AMUAO)
a. Length of the fran- FA: Section 5.1.1 FA: Ten years, or the end date of your lease if it
chise term is for a shorter period of time.

MUA: Section 5.1
MUA: Until the last unit in the development sched-
ule opens or is required to open.
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Provision

Sections in the Franchise
Agreement (AF
Multi-Unit Agreement

(AMUAO)

Summary

b. Renewal or exten-
sion of the term

FA: Section 5.1.2
MUA: Section 5.1

FA: Upon expiration of the initial term, you may
renew for a term of ten years.

MUA: None

c. Requirements for
you to renew or ex-
tend

FA: Sections 2.1.6.8 and
51.2

MUA: Not applicable

FA: Notify us of your desire to renew 12-24
months before the end of the term; repair and up-
date equipment and premises; and sign a new
franchise agreement which may contain materi-
ally different terms and conditions than your orig-
inal contract. We may require you to sign a re-
lease. You must also pay a renewal fee equal to
25% of the then-current initial franchise fee.

d. Termination by you

FA: Section 5.2.1
MUA: Not applicable

FA: You may terminate if we materially breach the
franchise agreement and fail to cure after notice
from you. You may also terminate the agreement
on any grounds available by law.

e. Termination by us
without cause

FA: Not applicable
MUA: Not applicable

f. Termination by us
with cause

FA: Sections 5.2.2 and
523

MUA: Section 5.2

FA: We can terminate only if you default.

MUA: We can terminate only if you default.

g. "Cause" defined o
defaults that can be
cured

FA : Sections 5.2.2.4,
5.2.2.9,5.2.2.11,5.2.2.12,
5.2.2.14, and 5.2.3

MUA : Section 5.2.2

FA: You have 12 hours from our delivery of notice
to remove objectionable social media content;

You have 72 hours to cure noted violations of
health or safety laws or standards;

You have 5 days to cure our noted failure by you
to pay us or any suppliers of the restaurant;

You have 10 days to cure your noted failure to
maintain insurance that we require;

You have 15 days from notification of your failure
to comply with any law or regulation, other than
health and safety laws;

You have 30 days to cure any agreement breach
not noted above or in

MUA: You have 30 days to cure any agreement
breach not noted above

q
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Provision

Sections in the Franchise
Agreement (AF
Multi-Unit Agreement

(AMUAO)

Summary

h.

i Caus ed
non-curable de-
faults

FA: Section 5.2.2, except
for subsections noted in
subpart fAgo a

MUA: Section 5.2.1

FA: Misrepresentation to us; failure to success-
fully complete training; failure to open the busi-
ness within the required time; unauthorized dis-
closure of confidential information; unauthorized
use of Marks; attempted transfer without our ap-
proval; failure to pay taxes; failure to maintain
competent, conscientious and trained staff; failure
to complete transfer of
in the franchise withi
death or 6 months from permanent disability;
criminal conviction; bankruptcy or insolvency;
abandonment of the business; lease default that
you fail to cure within time provided by lease; lose
right to possess approved restaurant location and
do not relocate to a site we approve; default under
another Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchise
agreement; damage to our goodwill. Termination
upon your bankruptcy may not be enforceable un-
der federal bankruptcy law.

MUA: False representations to us; failure to meet
the Development Schedule; disclosure of confi-
dential information; attempted transfer without our
approval; criminal conviction.

i. Your obligations on

termination /non-re-
newal

FA: Section 5.3
MUA: Section 5.3.1

FA: Complete deidentification of the restaurant,
return of manuals, payment of amounts due, pro-
vide us with the complete customer list with all
contact information, assign phone numbers and
directory listings to us if we request; maintain con-
fidentiality, comply with covenant not to compete.
If termination due to your default, payment of lig-
uidated damages.

MUA: maintain confidentiality, comply with cove-
nant not to compete

j- Assignment of con-

tract by us

FA: Section 4.1
MUA: Section 4.1

FA: No restriction on our right to assign.

MUA: No restriction on our right to assign.

k.

ATrans®de
defined

FA: Section 4.2.2
MUA: Section 4.2.2

FA: Transfer of franchise agreement rights, sub-
stantially all assets, operating control over the
restaurant, or ownership in your business entity.
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Provision

Sections in the Franchise
Agreement (AF
Multi-Unit Agreement

(AMUAO)

Summary

MUA: Transfer of rights under the multi-unit
agreement or ownership change or transfer of
franchises.

[. Our approval of a
transfer by you

FA: Section 4.2
MUA: 4.2.1

FA: We may withhold our approval to a transfer
unl ess the conditions
been met.

MUA: Same as franchise agreement.

m. Conditions for our
approval of the
transfer

FA: Sections 2.1.6.6 and
4.2

MUA: Sections 4.2.1. and
4.2.4

FA: The transferee meets our criteria for Sedona
Taphouse restaurant franchisees; you are in com-
pliance; you pay a transfer fee equal to 50% of the
then-current initial fee; transferee signs new form
of franchise agreement; upgrade and remodel of
Restaurant Premises to our then-current stand-
ard; you acknowledge continuing confidentiality
and noncompete requirements; release of claims
from you; new manager is trained; we approve the
terms of the transfer; you notify us of the closing.

MUA: At least 50% of the restaurants to be
opened under the MUA are open and operating;
you transfer control over all such open and oper-
ating restaurants to the transferee; the transferee
meets our criteria; you are in compliance; $10,000
transfer fee is paid; you acknowledge continuing
confidentiality and noncompete requirements; we
approve the terms of the transfer; you notify us of
the closing.

n. Our right of first re-
fusal to acquire
your business

FA: Section 4.3
MUA: Section 4.3

FA: We can match any offer for your business.

MUA: We can match any offer for your business.

0. Our option to pur-
chase your busi-
ness

FA: Section 5.3.2
MUA: Not applicable

FA: On termination or nonrenewal, we may pur-
chase assets of your business at the lesser of
their original acquisition cost, book value or fair
market value.

p. Your death or disa-
bility

FA: Sections 4.2.6 and
427

MUA: Section 4.2.6

FA: The estate or personal representative must
assign the franchise to an approved buyer within
12 months in the event of death, and 6 months in
the event of disability.

MUA: Same as franchise agreement.

2025 Version
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Provision

Sections in the Franchise
Agreement (AF
Multi-Unit Agreement

(AMUAO)

Summary

g. Non-competition
covenants during
the term of the fran-
chise

FA: Section 3.3.2
MUA: Section 3.2.2

FA: No involvement in competing business any-
where in the U.S. or in any other country in which
a Sedona Taphouse restaurant operates.

MUA: Same as franchise agreement.

r. Non-competition cov-
enants after the
franchise is termi-
nated or expires

FA : Section 3.3.3
MUA : Section 3.2.3

FA: No competing business for two years (includ-
ing after assignment) within 5 miles of any Se-
dona Taphouse restaurant business at the time
the franchise is terminated or expires.

MUA: Same as franchise agreement.

s. Modification of the
franchise agree-
ment

FA: Sections 1.4 and 7.13
MUA: Section 7.10

FA: No modifications generally unless signed by
the parties, but the manual is subject to change.

MUA: No modifications unless signed by the par-
ties.

t. Integration/merger
clause

FA: Section 7.13
MUA: Section 7.10

FA: Only the terms of the signed agreements are
binding (subject to applicable law). Any represen-
tations or promises outside the disclosure docu-
ment and franchise agreement may not be en-
forceable. Our integration/merger clause does not
disclaim the representations in this disclosure
document.

MUA: Same as franchise agreement.

u. Dispute resolution
by arbitration or me-
diation

FA: Not applicable
MUA: Not applicable

FA: You and we must try mediation to resolve any
disputes, and if that fails then we must use arbi-
tration to resolve disputes, except this does not
apply to seeking a preliminary injunction to stop
contract violations or trademark infringement.

MUA: Same as franchise agreement.

v. Choice of forum

FA: Section 7.12
MUA: Section 7.8

FA: Richmond, Virginia, except as otherwise
noted in Exhibit G (subject to applicable state
law).

MUA: Same as franchise agreement.

w. Choice of law

FA: Section 7.11
MUA: Section 7.7

FA: Virginia law applies except with regard to cov-
enant not to compet e,
favorable to enforcing it, and as otherwise noted
in Exhibit G (subject to applicable state law).

2025 Version

-35-




Sections in the Franchise
Agreement (AF
Multi-Unit Agreement

(AMUAO)

Provision Summary

MUA: Same as franchise agreement.

See the state addenda for special state disclosures. (Exhibit G.)
Item 18

PUBLIC FIGURES

We do not use any public figure to promote our franchise.
Item 19

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE REPRESENTATIONS

T h e F Fr&hbhsse Rule permits a franchisor to provide information about the actual or potential
financial performance of its franchised and/or franchisor-owned outlets, if there is a reasonable basis for
the information, and if the information is included in the disclosure document. Financial performance
information that differs from that included in Item 19 may be given only if: (1) a franchisor provides the
actual records of an existing outlet you are considering buying; or (2) a franchisor supplements the
information provided in this Item 19, for example, by providing information about possible performance at a
particular location or under particular circumstances.

We do not make any representations about a franchis
financial performance of company-owned or franchised outlets. We also do not authorize our employees or
representatives to make any such representations either orally or in writing. If you are purchasing an exist-
ing outlet, however, we may provide you with the actual records of that outlet. If you receive any other
financial performance information or projections of your future income, you should report it to the franchi-
sor6s management by contacti ng De n 8l2$ooefieid Drive, Suitea t DJB |
301, Richmond, VA 23236, telephone 804-545-2498, the Federal Trade Commission, and the appropriate
state regulatory agencies.
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Item 20

OUTLETS AND FRANCHISEE INFORMATION

Table No. 1
Systemwide Outlet Summary
For Years 2022 to 2024

Outlet Type Year Outlets at the Start Outlets at the Net Change
of the Year End of the Year
2022 13 13 0
Franchised 2023 13 13 0
2024 13 14 +1
2022 3 3 0
Company-Owned 2023 3 3 0
2024 3 3 0
2022 16 16 0
Total Outlets 2023 16 16 0
2024 16 17 +1
Table No. 2

Transfers of Outlets from Franchisees to New Owners (other than the Franchisor)
For Years 2022 to 2024

State Year Number of Transfers
2022 0

All States 2023
2024
2022
Total 2023
2024

o|Oo|o|o O

Table No. 3
Status of Franchised Outlets
For Years 2022 to 2024

State Year | Outlets Outlets | Termina- | Nonre- Reac- Ceased Op- | Outlets at
at Start | Opened tions newals | quired erations T End of the
of Year by Other Rea- Year

Fran- sons
chisor
2022 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
CT 2023 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2024 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2022 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
KY 2023 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
2024 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
2022 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
Ml 2023 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
2024 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
-37-
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State Year | Outlets Outlets | Termina- | Nonre- Reac- Ceased Op- | Outlets at
at Start | Opened tions newals | quired erations i End of the
of Year by Other Rea- Year

Fran- sons
chisor
2022 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
NJ 2023 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2024 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2022 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
NY 2023 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2024 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2022 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
PA 2023 2 0 0 0 0 0 2
2024 2 1 0 0 0 0 3
2022 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
TN 2023 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2024 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
2022 3 0 0 0 0 0 3
VA 2023 3 0 0 0 0 0 3
2024 3 0 0 0 0 0 3
2022 13 0 0 0 0 0 13
Total 2023 13 0 0 0 0 0 13
2024 13 1 0 0 0 0 14
Table No. 4
Status of Company-Owned Outlets
For Years 2022 to 2024
State Year Outlets Outlets | Outlets Reac- Outlets Outlets Sold Outlets
at Start | Opened quired From Closed to Franchi- at End of
of the Franchisee see the Year
Year
2022 3 0 0 0 0 3
VA 2023 3 0 0 0 0 3
2024 3 0 0 0 0 3
2022 3 0 0 0 0 3
Total 2023 3 0 0 0 0 3
2024 3 0 0 0 0 3
Table No. 5
Projected Openings as of December 31, 2024
State Franchise Agreements Projected New Fran- Projected New Company-
Sighed But Outlet Not chised Outlet in the Next Owned Outlet in the Next
Opened Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
NY 0 1 0
VA 1 1 0
Total 1 2 0
-38 -




Exhibit B1 lists the names of all current Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchisees and the ad-
dresses and telephone numbers of their outlets as of the date of this disclosure document.

Exhibit B2 lists the name, city and state, and the current business telephone number (or, if un-
known, the last known home telephone number) of every franchisee who had an outlet terminated, can-
celed, not renewed, or otherwise voluntarily or involuntarily ceased to do business under the franchise
agreement during our most recently completed fiscal year or who has not communicated with us within ten
weeks of the issuance date of this disclosure document. If you buy this franchise, your contact information
may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave the franchise system.

Exhibit C1 lists, to the extent known, the names, addresses, telephone numbers, email address
and Web address of each trademark-specific franchisee organization associated with the franchise system
being offered which we have created, sponsored or endorsed.

Exhibit C2 lists the independent franchisee organizations that have asked to be included in this
disclosure document.

During the last three fiscal years, no current or former franchisees have signed confidentiality
clauses that would restrict them from discussing with you their experiences as a franchisee in our franchise
system.

Item 21

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Attached to this disclosure document as Exhibit D are the audited financial statements of DJB
Franchising, LLC, which comprise the balance sheets as at December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022, and the
related statements of operations and membersd equity,
2024, 2023 and 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Iltem 22

CONTRACTS
Exhibit F contains copies of the following contracts:

. Franchise Agreement

. Guaranty

. Lease Addendum

. Prospective Franchisee Confidentiality and Non-Competition Agreement
. Multi-Unit Agreement

. Consent to Transfer Agreement

. Renewal Addendum

. ACH Debit Application

O~NO O WNPE
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Item 23

RECEIPTS

A detachable form for your use to acknowledge your receipt of this disclosure document, including
all exhibits, is attached as Exhibit | at the very end of this disclosure document. You must date and sign this
receipt and deliver it to us.
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STATE ADMINISTRATORS

AND

EXHIBIT A

AGENTS FOR SERVICE OF PROCESS

State

State Administrator

Agent for Service of Process

California

California Department of Business Oversight
One Sansome Street, #600

San Francisco, CA 94104

415-972-8559

320 West 4th Street Suite 750
Los Angeles, CA 90013
213-576-7500 Toll Free 866-275-2677

1515 K Street, Suite 200
Sacramento, CA 95814
916-445-7205

1350 Front Street
San Diego, CA 92101
619-525-4233

California Commissioner of Busi-
ness Oversight

Connecticut

Connecticut Department of Banking
Securities and Business Investments Division
260 Constitution Plaza

Hartford, CT 06103-1800

860-240-8109

Banking Commissioner

Hawaii

Business Registration Division

Securities Compliance

Department of Commerce and Consumer Affairs
335 Merchant Street, Room 203

Honolulu, HI 96813

808-587-2617

Commissioner of Securities

lllinois

lllinois Attorney General
Franchise Bureau

500 S. Second Street
Springfield, IL 62706
217-782-4465

Attorney General

2025 Version




State

State Administrator

Agent for Service of Process

Indiana

Indiana Securities Division
Secretary of State
I ndi ana
Indianapolis, IN 46204
317-232-6681

GoSouht E-IdE nt er

Secretary of State

Maryland

Office of the Attorney General
Division of Securities

200 St. Paul Place

Baltimore, MD 21202-2020
410-576-6360

Securities Commissioner
200 St. Paul Place
Baltimore, MD 21202-2020

Michigan

Attorney General 6s
Consumer Protection Division

525 W. Ottawa Street

670 Williams Building

Lansing, MI 48909

517-373-7117

Of fi

Attorney General

Minnesota

Minnesota Department of Commerce
Market Assurance Division

85 7" Place East, Suite 280

St. Paul, MN 55101-2198
651-539-1600

Commissioner of Commerce

New York

NYS Department of Law
Investor Protection Bureau
28 Liberty Street, 215t Floor
New York, NY 10005
212-416-8222

Secretary of State

Department of State of New York
One Commerce Plaza

99 Washington Avenue, 6" Floor
Albany, NY 12231

North Dakota

North Dakota Securities Department
600 East Boulevard Avenue, Fifth Floor
Bismarck, North Dakota 58505-0510
701-328-4712

Securities Commissioner

Rhode Island

Department of Business Regulation
1511 Pontiac Avenue, Bldg 69-1
Cranston, Rl 02920

401-462-9527

Director, Department of Business
Regulation
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State

State Administrator

Agent for Service of Process

South Dakota

Department of Labor and Regulation
Division of Securities

124 South Euclid, Suite 104

Pierre, SD 57501

605-773-4823

Director of the Division of Securi-
ties

Department of Financial Institutions
P.O. Box 1768

Madison, W1 53701

608-266-8557

Virginia State Corporation Commission Clerk, State Corporation Commis-
Division of Securities and Retail Franchising sion
1300 E. Main Street, 9th Floor 1300 E. Main Street, 15t Floor
Richmond, VA 23219 Richmond, VA 23219
804-371-9051 804-371-9733

Washington Department of Financial Institutions Director of Financial Institutions
Securities Division
150 Israel Road SW
Tumwater, WA 98501
360-902-8760

Wisconsin Wisconsin Division of Securities Administrator

Division of Securities
Department of Financial Institutions
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FRANCHISEES

EXHIBIT B1

The following is the list of franchises in operation as of the end of our last fiscal year:

State | Franchisee Name | Contact Name Restaurant Address Phone
CT R & J Hospitality Nor- | Ronald Duckstein 515 West Avenue 203-299-1800
walk LLC & Jeff Hardy Norwalk, CT 06850
KY JSK Investments Jatin Shah 1950 Newtown Pike 859-233-0512
LLC Lexington, KY 40511
KY L&L Craft LLC Alex Ahmadi & 3600 Paloma Center Drive 973-713-2839
Eric Farber Lexington, KY 40513
MI KW Novi Hospitality Marty Knollenberg Twelve Oaks Mall 215-668-8212
LLC & Joseph West 27466 Novi Rd
Novi, MI 48377
Mi Knollenberg Hospital- | Martin Knollenberg | 198 East Big Beaver Road 248-422-6167
ity LLC Troy, Ml 48083
NJ Anderson Ave LLC Edward Young & One Towne Center 201-739-7741
Mendy Zuta 679 Anderson Avenue
Cliffside Park, NJ 07010
NY R & B Hospitality Ma- | Ronald Duckstein 640 East Boston Post Road | 914-341-1511
maroneck & Bill Jablonski Mamaroneck, NY 10543
PA Pad Flite LLC David Trout & 131 Bridge Street #5 215-668-8212
Peter Shivery Phoenixville, PA 19460
PA Pad WC LLC David Trout & 44 West Gay St., 15t Floor 215-668-8212
Peter Shivery West Chester, PA 19380
PA D&L R.E. LLC David Trout & 106 Squire Drive 215-668-8212
Lisa Trout Newtown Square, PA 19073
TN Broadstone LLC Alex Ahmadi & 1120 3 Ave N. 973-713-2839
Rob Parke Nashville, TN 37208
VA CH Sedona Chantilly, | Mitesh S. Amin 4970 Westcroft Boulevard 804-400-1322
LLC Chantilly, VA 20151
VA Red Rock Partners Wayne Boone 1035 Millmont Street 434-296-2337
LLC Charlottesville, VA 22903
VA CH Sedona Group, Mitesh S. Amin 435 Charles H. Dimmock 804-400-1322
LLC Pkwy,
Colonial Heights, VA 23834

As ofthe end of our last fiscal year, we have signed a franchise agreement, and the franchisee
has signed a lease, for the following location:

VA

STHVABL, LLC

Vimal Patel
Alan Campbell
Shivam Amin

2128 Locksley Arch
Virginia Beach, VA 23456

757-971-8469
(for Vimal)
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EXHIBIT B2

FORMER FRANCHISEES

During the last fiscal year, no Sedona Taphouse restaurant franchisee left the system or voluntarily
ceased to conduct business.

If you buy this franchise, your contact information may be disclosed to other buyers when you leave
the franchise system.
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EXHIBIT C

1. FRANCHISEE ORGANIZATIONS
WE HAVE CREATED, SPONSORED OR ENDORSED

None as of the date of this disclosure document.

2. INDEPENDENT FRANCHISEE ASSOCIATIONS

None as of the date of this disclosure document.
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»Keiter

Your Opportunity Advisors

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Sole Member of
DJB Franchising, LLC

Opinion

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of DJB Franchising, LLC (the
“Company”), which comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the
related statements of operations and member's equity, and cash flows for the years ended
December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of DJB Franchising, LLC as of December 31, 2024 and 2023, and the
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and
2022 in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required
to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. Ve believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, and for the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are
conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for one year after the date that the financial
statements are available to be issued.

> Certified Public
Accountants & Consultants
4401 Dominion Boulevard
Glen Allen, VA 23060
T:804.747.0000 F:804.747.3632

winiw keitercpa.com
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance
but it is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with generally accepted auding standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are
considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auding standards, we:

e Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the
audit.

o l|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed.

e Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

e Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the
aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern for a reasonable period of time.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal
control related matters that we identified during the audit.

Ktitee—

April 9, 2025
Glen Allen, Virginia



DJB FRANCHISING, LLC

Balance Sheets
December 31, 2024 and 2023

Assets
2024 2023
Current assets:
Cash $1,980,489 $1,500,610
Investments 805,068 733,874
Royalties receivable 202,810 184,526
Marketing fees receivable 79,062 60,986
Other receivable 4,078 2,083
Due from related parties 599,664 606,179
Note receivable - related party, current 73,132 68,201
Total current assets 3,744303 3,156,459
Note receivable - related party, net of current portion 585,990 659,123
Property and equipment, net 9,766 -
Intangible assets, net - 394
Total assets $4,340,059 $3,815976
Liabilities and Member's Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 62078 $ 43,385
Deferred revenue, current 25,636 21,959
Total current liabilities 87,714 65,344
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 78,380 70,350
Total liabilities 166,094 135,694
Member's equity 4,173,965 3,680,282
Total liabilities and member's equity $4,340,059 $3,815,976

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
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DJB FRANCHISING, LLC

Statements of Operations and Member’s Equity
Years ended December 31, 2024, 2023, and 2022

Revenues:
Franchise royalties
Advertising revenue
Software revenue
Training income
Franchise fees

Total revenues

Operating expenses:

Advertising

Professional fees

Training

Licensing fees

Other operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expenses
Operating income

Other income (expense):

Interest income
Investment income
Other expense

Total other income
Net income

Member's equity, beginning of year
Member's contributions
Member's distributions

Member's equity, end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

- Vil -

4

2024 2023 2022

$2,171,658 $2,175,208 $2,158,265
725,094 710,377 528,414
45,918 38,730 36,853
43,462 - -
23,293 22,426 45,469

3,009,425 2,946,741 2,769,001

212,045 336,280 192,674

39,334 64,458 47,691
31,087 - 500
= 50,000 50,000
407,726 340,246 309,390
1,721 3,109 13,257

691,913 794,093 613,512

2,317,512 2,152,648 2,155,489

66,831 68,225 46,064
34,158 30,232 4,476
(12,000) . x

88,989 98,457 50,540

2,406,501 2,251,105 2,206,029

3,680,282 3,516,771 2,434,366

. 19,177 .
(1912,818) (2,108,771) (1,123,624)

$4,173,965 $3,680,282 $3,516,771




DJB FRANCHISING, LLC

Statements of Cash Flows
Years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, and 2022

2024 2023 2022

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $2,406,501 $2,251,105 $2,206,029
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net
cash from operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 1,721 3,109 13,257
Investment income (34,158) (30,232) (4,476)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Franchise fees receivable - 20,000 6,182
Royalties receivable (18,284) (1,763) (2,966)
Marketing fees receivable (18,076) (4,954) (9,577)
Other receivables (1,995) 2,278 (4,361)
Due from related parties 6,515 (83,955) 707,517
Prepaid expenses - 6,188 144
Accounts payable 18,693 (64,954) 9,611
Deferred revenue 11,707 (22,426) (25,469)
Due to related party - (100,000) 33,950
Net cash provided by operating
activities 2,372,624 1,974,396 2,929,841
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment (11,093) - -
Purchase of investments (800,000) - (699,166)
Proceeds from sale of investments 762,964 - -
Issuance of note receivable - related party - - (835,800)
Collections of note receivable - related party 68,202 63,604 44,872
Net cash provided by (used in) investing
activities 20,073 63,604 (1,490,094)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Member's contributions - 19,177 -
Member's distributions (1,912,818) (2,106,771) (1,123,624)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,912,818) (2,087,594) (1,123,624)

Net change in cash 479,879 (49,594) 316,123
Cash, beginning of year 1,500,610 1,550,204 1,234,081
Cash, end of year $1,980,489 $1,500,610 $1,550,204

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

5
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DJB FRANCHISING, LLC

Notes to the Financial Statements

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:

Description of Business: DJB Franchising, LLC (the “Company”) was formed as a
limited liability company on July 22, 2014 for the express purpose of selling franchises
and supporting franchisees as detailed in management’s franchise agreements.

The Company offers the right to own and operate a Sedona Taphouse restaurant at
locations throughout the United States. Each Sedona Taphouse restaurant is an upscale
beer and food café restaurant featuring multiple taps and a long, revolving list of craft
beer brands from around the world, as well as wine and cocktails, and proprietary and
confidential food and beverage recipes and related items and services.

The Company may also offer a multi-unit franchise granting the right in a defined
geographic area to open and operate a designated number of Sedona Taphouse
restaurants within a specified period of time.

Basis of Accounting: The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on
the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (“GAAP”) as determined by Financial Accounting
Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”).

Cash: The Company considers all highly liquid debt instruments purchased with a
maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

Receivables: Receivables consist of amounts management expects to collect from
franchisees for franchise fees, royalties, and other receivables, net of any allowance for
credit losses. The Company'’s receivables are carried at the original charge amount less
an estimate made for uncollectible accounts based on management’s estimate of the
amount of receivables that will actually be collected. Management closely monitors
outstanding balances and provides for uncollectible amounts through a charge to
earnings and a credit to an allowance for credit losses.

The Company follows FASB guidance Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-13,
Financial Instruments — Credit Losses (Topic 326), for estimating credit losses with the
current expected credit loss (*CECL”) model for most financial assets held at amortized
cost, including accounts receivable. This model requires entities to consider a wide
range of information when estimating credit losses, including historical loss information,
current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Under the CECL model,
the allowance for credit losses on financial assets reflects management’s estimate of
credit losses over the remaining expected life of the assets. Management has
determined that no allowance for credit losses was considered necessary at December
31, 2024 and 2023.
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DJB FRANCHISING, LLC

Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued:

Investments: The Company invests in various securities. Such investments are
exposed to various risks such as interest rate, market and credit. Due to the level of risk
associated with certain investments and the level of uncertainty related to changes in the
value of investments, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in the risks in the
near term could materially affect amounts reported on the financial statements. The
Company determines the appropriate classification of securities at the date the individual
investment securities are acquired. The appropriateness of such classification is
reassessed at each balance sheet date.

Securities are carried at fair value. Realized gains and losses on dispositions are based
on the net proceeds and the carrying value of the securities sold, using the specific
identification method. Unrealized gains and losses on investment securities are based
on the difference between book value and fair value of each security. Realized and
unrealized gains and losses are reported in the accompanying statements of operations
and member’s equity.

Property and Equipment: Property and equipment are recorded at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed by using the straight-line method
based upon the estimated useful lives of the related asset which is five years.
Purchases of property and equipment are capitalized. When assets are sold or
otherwise disposed of, the cost and related accumulated depreciation are removed from
the accounts and the resulting gain or loss is reflected in operations.

Intangible Assets: Intangible assets are stated at cost and relate to a website,
software, and trademark acquired for use in franchise operations. The Company has
determined that the intangible assets have finite lives and should continue to be
amortized on the straight-line method over their expected useful lives of 3 to 10 years.
Upon retirement or sale of an asset, the cost and accumulated amortization are removed
from the accounts and any gain or loss is reflected in operations.

Revenue Recognition: The Company follows FASB guidance ASU No. 2014-09,
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). The Company recognizes revenue
when it transfers promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods
or services. Economic factors may impact the nature, amount, and timing of revenue
recognition.



2025 Version

DJB FRANCHISING, LLC

Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued:

Revenue Recognition, Continued: Franchise Fees — The Company earns revenue
from the sale and support of individual franchises. Each franchisee enters into a
franchise agreement whereby the Company licenses the Sedona Taphouse brand to the
franchisee and provides on-going franchisee support services. Franchise fees vary by
franchisee in accordance with the signed franchise agreement, with franchise fee
revenue beginning once the franchisee has opened the specific location. Revenue is
recognized with 40% of the franchise fee in the first year of operations, and the
remaining 60% recognized equally over the remaining performance obligation, or initial
franchise agreement. Franchise fees are recognized over time, beginning upon the
franchise's location opening, with remaining fees included as deferred revenue.

Franchise Royalties and Advertising Revenue — The Company earns royalty and
advertising fees from its franchisees based on percentages of monthly sales. The sales-
based fees are recognized at a point in time as the franchisees’ monthly sales occur.

Software Revenue — The Company assesses software revenue from its franchisees for
the monthly use of the Company’s software for payment processing and monthly
reporting. The revenue is recognized at a point in time on a monthly basis.

Training and Consulting Income — The Company provides training services for all
franchise locations prior to opening. Training is typically completed just prior to the
opening of a franchise. Consulting services are provided upon request of the franchisee
and includes services related to restaurant design and planning. Training and consulting
services are billed and recognized at a point in time upon completion of the services
provided.

The Company follows FASB guidance ASU No. 2021-02, Franchisors — Revenue from
Contracts with Customers (Subtopic 952-606), which provides revenue recognition
guidance for pre-opening services provided to franchisees. Under the standard, a
franchisor may account for pre-opening services as distinct from the franchise licensing
fees. The Company recognizes pre-opening services as a single performance obligation.

A contract asset is the Company’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or
services the Company has transferred to a customer. Contract assets include franchise
fees, franchise royalties, and advertising revenue due but not paid by franchisees as of
year-end. Contract assets were $281,872, $245,512, and $258,795 as of December 31,
2024 and 2023, and 2022, respectively.

Contract liabilities represent consideration received from a customer before the
Company has transferred a good or service to the customer. Contract liabilities include
deferred revenue and represent amounts paid from franchisees under franchise
agreements to be recognized over time in accordance with the Company’s policy as
discussed above. Contract liabilities were $104,016, $92,309, and $114,735 as of
December 31, 2024 and 2023, and 2022, respectively.
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DJB FRANCHISING, LLC

Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, Continued:

Credit Risks and Concentrations: The Company maintains its cash in a financial
institution with a balance that occasionally exceeds federally insured limits.

At December 31, 2024, four franchisees accounted for 46% of total franchise fee and
royalties receivables. At December 31, 2023, four franchisees accounted for 51% of total
franchise fee and royalties receivables. For 2024, fourteen franchisees accounted for
100% of total fees and royalties revenues. For 2023 and 2022, thirteen franchisees
accounted for 100% of total fees and royalties revenues.

Advertising: The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred.
Advertising expense amounted to $212,045 for 2024, $336,280 for 2023, and $192,674
for 2022.

Sales Taxes: The Company’s sales are subject to sales tax imposed by various
jurisdictions. The Company collects sales tax from customers and remits it to the
applicable jurisdictions. The Company excludes the tax collected and remitted from
sales and operating expenses.

Income Taxes and Uncertainties: The Company is treated as a partnership for federal
and state income tax purposes. Accordingly, no provision for income taxes has been
provided in these financial statements since all income, losses, deductions and credits
are passed to and are reported by the member on the member’s respective income tax
returns.

Management has evaluated the Company’s income tax positions and concluded that the
Company has no significant financial statement exposure to uncertain income tax
positions at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Company is not currently under audit by
any tax jurisdiction.

Use of Estimates: The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with
generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amount of revenues and expenses during the period reported. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.

Subsequent Events: Management has evaluated subsequent events through April 9,

2025, the date the financial statements were available to be issued, and has determined
that there are no disclosures necessary.
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Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued

2. Franchise Agreements:

The following is a summary of changes in the number of franchise and sub franchise
outlets during 2024, 2023, and 2022:

2024 2023 2022
Franchised outlets
In operation
Beginning of year 13 13 13
Placed in operation during the year 1 - -
End of year 14 13 13

In July 2024, the Company entered into a new franchise agreement. The location is
expected to open during 2025.

All franchisees enter into a franchise agreement with the Company. Each agreement has
a stated initial term, which is generally five to ten years and is renewable for successive
five-year terms. Upon signing of the agreement, each franchisee is required to pay an
initial franchise fee for the exclusive use of Sedona Taphouse trademarks and training.

In addition, the franchisee is obligated to pay a royalty fee and advertising fee
determined as a percentage of the franchisee’s monthly gross sales less taxes.

3. Investments and Fair Value Measurements

The Company follows FASB guidance for measurement and disclosure of fair value
which establishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy and prioritizes the inputs used in
measuring fair value as follows:

Level 1 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for
identical assets or liabilities in active markets that the Company has the
ability to access.

Level 2 Quoted prices for similar instruments in active and inactive markets; and
model driven valuations with significant inputs and drivers derived from
observable active markets.

Level 3 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable for the instrument
and significant to the fair value measurement.
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DJB FRANCHISING, LLC

Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued

3. Investments and Fair Value Measurements

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for investments
carried or disclosed at fair value:

Money market fund: Valued at the cash amount.

Mutual funds: Valued at the daily closing price as reported by the fund. Mutual funds
held by the Company are open-end mutual funds that are registered with the Securities
and Exchange Commission. These funds are required to publish their daily NAV and to
transact at that price. The mutual funds held by the Company are deemed to be actively
traded. As such, the Company classifies these investments within Level 1 of the fair
value hierarchy.

The valuation methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be
indicative of net realizable value or reflective of future fair values. Furthermore, while the
Company believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other
market participants, the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the
fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair value
measurement at the reporting date.

Investments recorded at fair value on a recurring basis measured using Level 1 inputs
amounted to $805,068 at December 31, 2024 and $733,874 at December 31, 2023.
During 2023, all Level 2 assets were reinvested as Level 1 assets. There were no
investments recorded at fair value on a recurring basis measured using Level 2 or Level
3 inputs at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

4. Property and Equipment:

Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31:

2024 2023
Furniture and fixtures $ 7515 § 2,464
Office machinery & equipment 6,042 -
Less accumulated depreciation (3,791) (2,464)
$ 9,766 $ =

Total depreciation expense associated with property and equipment was $1,327 in 2024,
$0 for 2023, and $226 for 2022.
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5.

DJB FRANCHISING, LLC

Notes to the Financial Statements, Continued

Intangible Assets:

Intangible assets consisted of the following at December 31:

2024 2023
Website $ 62062 $ 62,062
Software 12,600 12,600
Trademark 3,092 3,092
77,754 77,754
Less accumulated amortization (77,754) (77,360)
$ - $ 394

Amortization of the Company’s intangible assets was $394 for 2024, $3,109 for 2023,
and $13,031 for 2022. Intangible assets were fully amortized as of December 31, 2024.

Related Party Transactions:

The Company had related party transactions with DJB Hospitality, LLC (“DJB
Hospitality”), an entity which is also wholly-owned by the sole member of the Company.
The Company was granted use rights of the Sedona Taphouse trademark and
intellectual property in the marketing, sale, and provisions of franchises to the
franchisees. The license required semi-annual payments of $25,000, beginning July 1,
2016, which was recorded as a licensing fee expense in the statements of operations
and member’s equity. The agreement was terminated in 2024. There was no expense
for 2024. The expense amounted to $50,000 for 2023 and 2022. The Company also
collects marketing revenue from franchisees, which is commonly redistributed to DJB
Hospitality for shared expenses. The Company did not redistribute any shared services
in 2024, 2023, or 2022.

From time to time, the Company makes advances to related parties for varying amounts.
Except as noted below, there are no terms of repayment or agreement related to the
advances as of December 31, 2024. Outstanding balances were $599,665 at December
31, 2024 and $606,179 at December 31, 2023 which were included in due from related
parties on the accompanying balance sheets.

During March 2022, the Company entered into a note receivable agreement with NKW1,
LLC, a related party, for $835,800. The agreement includes monthly installments of
$9,690 over 120 months, and interest on unpaid principal payments of 7% per annum.
The outstanding balance on the related party note receivable was $659,122 at
December 31, 2024 and $727,324 at December 31, 2023. Interest income was $48,074
and $68,225 during 2024 and 2023, respectively, and is included in interest income on
the statements of operations and member’s equity.
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